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ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COUNTRY  

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences acknowledges 
Australia’s First Nations Peoples as the traditional owners 
and custodians of the land and gives respect to the Elders 
— past and present — and through them to all Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

The Museum recognises and shares the value and 
importance of preserving, revitalising and strengthening 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures, histories and 
achievements. Central to achieving the Museum’s vision for 
reconciliation is the exploration and fulfilment of a range of 
mutually beneficial opportunities in partnership with 
Traditional Owners and Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 
cultures and networks, allowing the Museum’s activities to 
be linked to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as 
a fundamental human right.
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The Museum was established following the 1879 Sydney 
International Exhibition which was its genesis. The 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) 
was established under the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences Act 1945 (Museum’s Act). Aspects of the 
Museum’s management and governance are also 
covered under the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 
Regulation 2018.  

At 30 June 2019 the Museum was responsible for the 
Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney Observatory, and the 
Museums Discovery Centre, Castle Hill. 

The Museum’s Act requires it to effectively minister to  
the needs and demands of the community in any or all 
branches of applied science and art and the development  
of industry by: 

–  the display of selected objects arranged to illustrate  
the industrial advance of civilisation and the development 
of inventions and manufactures, 

–  the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste by 
illustrating the history and development of the  
applied arts, 

–  lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and other 
educational means, 

–  scientific research, or 

–  any other means necessary or desirable for the 
development of the natural resources and manufacturing 
industries of New South Wales.

In response to the development and implementation of the 
Powerhouse Program, the Museum will review its strategic 
direction to ensure that it delivers impactful and innovative 
programs relevant to contemporary communities. 

CHARTER

STRATEGIC DIRECTION  
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PRESIDENT

It has been a pivotal year following the NSW Government’s 
2018 announcement to invest in the renewal of the 
Museum, which will include the establishment of the new 
Powerhouse Precinct at Parramatta, an expansion of the 
Museum’s storage facility in Castle Hill and the proposed 
Ultimo Creative Industries Precinct. This is a once-in-a-
generation investment. 

This year, the Trust also had the pleasure of welcoming  
Lisa Havilah as Chief Executive of the Museum. Under  
Lisa’s leadership we are well on the way to delivering a bold 
new Museum that extends beyond traditional exhibition 
spaces, providing world-class programming and 
experiences for the community. The Trust looks forward  
to continuing to work with her to deliver her vision for  
the Museum. 

In January, a global search for a team to design the 
Powerhouse Precinct at Parramatta was launched. Endorsed 
by the Australian Institute of Architects, the two-stage 
competition welcomed Australian and international 
designers, and strongly encouraged creative and intellectual 
collaborations between established and emerging talent.  
As a result, six architectural teams were shortlisted with the 
finalist to be announced later this year. 

We also farewelled three Trust members this year: Robert 
Cameron, Elizabeth Crouch and Professor Salah Sukkarieh. 
They brought a wealth of experience from their respective 
fields and I thank them for their service and expertise.  
The Trust would like to welcome its new members: David 
Borger, Paddy Carney, Kellie Hush and Eddie Woo. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the dedication and 
commitment of the Museum’s staff and volunteers, who 
deliver outstanding exhibitions, programs and experiences 
for our community every year. I am extremely proud of  
their hard work and look forward to an exciting program  
in 2019–20.  

Professor Barney Glover AO 
President
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE

It has been a great honour to have the opportunity to  
lead the Museum through this exciting period of renewal.  
The Powerhouse Program has been realised through 
significant investment and commitment by the NSW 
Government, and we appreciate and value our 
collaborations across Government, especially with our key 
delivery partners Create NSW and Infrastructure NSW.

The Powerhouse Program includes the creation of the 
Powerhouse Precinct at Parramatta, the establishment of 
new dedicated collections stores in Castle Hill, and the 
development of a Creative Industries Precinct in Ultimo. 
We have also embarked on one of the largest collection 
digitisation projects in Australia, which will see 338,000 
objects from our collection made accessible to our 
communities, researchers and industry. Together, these 
projects mark the largest investment into cultural 
infrastructure since the Sydney Opera House in 1973.

The Powerhouse Program will set a new benchmark in 
cultural placemaking for Greater Sydney and Australia.  
Our institution will return to its origins through the creation 
of exhibition spaces that support high visitor numbers, 
engage communities with new technology and provide 
opportunities for collaboration and exchange.  

I would like to acknowledge and thank Andrew Elliott, 
Director of Corporate Resources and Chief Financial Officer, 
who led the Museum as the Acting Chief Executive leading 
up to my appointment in January this year. I express my 
gratitude to the Trust for welcoming me so warmly into my 
new role and for their support and wise counsel. 

My thanks to the NSW Government and the Minister for 
the Arts, the Hon. Don Harwin MLC, whose ongoing 
commitment to the renewal of our Museum is a constant 
inspiration. Thanks also goes to our colleagues across 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet and the NSW 
Cultural Institutions. 

Finally, I thank the staff and volunteers for their many 
achievements, hard work and great commitment over the 
last year. I have enjoyed our collaborations and the results 
that they are delivering. It has been an honour to work 
alongside them. 

It is a great joy to experience the passion that our 
communities have for the Museum of Applied Arts and 
Sciences and, as we undertake this period of renewal,  
we will ensure that we carry forward its legacy and embed 
its relevance and impact for many generations to come.

Lisa Havilah 
Chief Executive

Karen.Hancock
Cross-Out
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The Powerhouse Program is a once in a generation 
opportunity to renew one of Australia’s most significant 
cultural institutions.

The NSW Government investment in the Powerhouse 
Program will increase cultural participation in NSW  
and will underpin the future success of the Powerhouse 
across its multiple venues.

Powerhouse Parramatta
The Powerhouse Precinct at Parramatta will set a new 
benchmark in cultural placemaking for Greater Sydney 
and will be a symbol of a new approach to creative 
activity and engagement.   

Powerhouse Castle Hill
The expansion of the Powerhouse Castle Hill site will for  
the first time allow the whole Powerhouse collection  
to be stored on one site when not on display or loan, 
greatly improving community access.

Ultimo Creative Industries Precinct
The NSW Government is committed to retaining a creative 
industries presence at Ultimo. A creative industries 
precinct is critical to cementing Sydney’s reputation as 
Australia’s cultural capital while investing in one of the 
fastest growing economic sectors for the state.   

Powerhouse Collection Relocation  
and Digitisation 
The relocation of the Powerhouse collection and  
the digitisation of 338,000 objects will enhance the 
collection’s accessibility for local, national and 
international audiences. 

maas.museum/powerhouseprogram 

During the Powerhouse Program, the Sydney Observatory 
will continue to offer Australia’s most accessible telescope 
domes and Space Theatre.

Over the past year, the Museum and GML Heritage have 
continued to develop the new Conservation Management 
Plan for Sydney Observatory, a significant body of work 
which builds on historian James Semple Kerr’s original 
Conservation Plan for the site. The new Conservation 
Management Plan seeks to document in detail the 
multiple historical layers and uses of the site, including 
the site of Sydney’s first colonial windmill, Fort Phillip,  
the Signal Station, and the varied scientific endeavours 
undertaken at the Observatory including astronomy, 
timekeeping and meteorology. 

An important stream of work undertaken this year has 
been an investigation of the pre- and post-contact 
significance of the site to Australia’s First Nations peoples.

POWERHOUSE PROGRAM SYDNEY OBSERVATORY
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2018–19 Visitation

Powerhouse Museum 757,166 

Sydney Observatory 136,796 

Museums Discovery Centre* 15,547 

TOTAL onsite visitation 909,509 

TOTAL offsite visitation** 154,941 

TOTAL visitation 1,064,450 

* Museums Discovery Centre is managed in collaboration with 
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums and visitation to this 
site is attributed to all three collaborating agencies.

** Offsite visitation includes engagement with MAAS collection items 
on loan to other institutions.

Onsite audiences 
Onsite visitation across all Museum sites was 2% higher  
than the prior year. Notably general admissions were up  
11% with visitors engaging with Museum-developed 
exhibitions Akira Isogawa and Apollo 11.

Offsite and digital audiences 
Offsite visitation represents engagement through offers 
delivered by the Museum outside venues, including public 
programs and touring exhibitions and through offsite 
engagement with the Museum’s collection.

As part of the Colony: Australia 1770–1861 exhibition,  
the Museum loaned 13 objects to the National Gallery of 
Victoria, presenting our collection to over 28,000 visitors.  
Our annual Sydney Science Festival (SSF) and Sydney 
Design Festival (SDF) saw a collective 340 programs and 
events and were attended by 57,074 and 20,135 audience 
members respectively. Carrying on from Sydney Science 
Festival, Science Program Producer Catherine Polcz 
delivered our largest offsite lecture at the University of 
Sydney, reaching an audience of 240 people.

2018–19 also saw an increase in engagement with our 
regional and digital audiences, with 9,369 people joining  
our Facebook live broadcast for Global Astronomy Month, 
and 1,750 regional students participating in the My Career 
Rules Video Conference.

VISITATION
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POWERHOUSE PROGRAM HIGHLIGHTS

Akira Isogawa
This exhibition was the first to explore Akira Isogawa’s 
career of more than 25 years, revealing the background, 
impulses and cultural influences that have contributed to 
the making of a fashion original. The exhibition was 
supported through partnerships with Airline Partner  
Etihad Airways and Preferred Hotel Partner QT Sydney.  
In partnership with Etihad Airways, the Museum hosted  
a competition where exhibition visitors could register to 
win free flights to any destination in the world, courtesy of 
Etihad. Akira Isogawa was visited by over 39,000 visitors. 
With Thames & Hudson the Museum co-published a large 
format, 242-page publication to accompany the exhibition. 
To date the book has sold over 1400 copies nationally.

STAR WARS™ Identities: The Exhibition 
This exhibition was an interactive experience designed  
for visitors of all ages to explore their own identity and  
learn about the forces that shape us. Through a series  
of interactive stations, visitors create a unique Star Wars 
character created over the course of their journey and 
revealed at the end of the exhibition. It displayed rare 
treasures from the Lucasfilm Ltd archives, including original 
costumes, props, models and artworks in a behind-the-
scenes glimpse into the movie-making process.  
The exhibition was supported by Strategic Sponsor 
Destination NSW who contributed toward the exhibition’s 
marketing campaign that targeted interstate and 
international visitors. STAR WARS™ Identities attracted  
over 130,000 visitors.   

Apollo 11
The exhibition Apollo 11 opened on 29 June 2019.  
It included over 200 objects and commemorates the 
50th Anniversary of the Moon landing. Key objects on 
display include items from the Museum’s collection 
including a feed horn used on the iconic CSIRO Parkes 
Radio Telescope, responsible for receiving some of the 
first images of the moonwalk for broadcast around the 
world; parts of the Redstone Rocket that put the first 
American into space; and an Olivetti Programma 101 
computer, the type used by NASA to calculate the 
launch and landing.

In a new virtual reality experience, developed in 
partnership with UNSW’s iCinema and using innovative 
3D modelling from the Smithsonian Institute, visitors 
watch the moon landing from the unique perspective of 
Michael Collins, the third astronaut who remained in 
orbit aboard the Command Module. To coincide with the 
exhibition, Luke Jerram’s installation Museum of the 
Moon is being presented. The installation, which has 
toured internationally, combines detailed NASA imagery 
of the lunar surface, alongside a sound composition 
created by BAFTA and Ivor Novello award-winning 
composer Dan Jones.

Shape 2019
Shape 2019 showcased a selection of outstanding major 
projects from the HSC Design and Technology, Industrial 
Technology, and Textiles and Design courses. As varied as 
they are creative, these projects provided a glimpse into 
the minds of tomorrow’s designers. The exhibition was 
presented in association with NSW Education Standards 
Authority. Shape 2019 attracted over 9,700 visitors.

The Ideal Home
The Ideal Home, a collaborative exhibition between the 
Penrith Regional Gallery and Lewers Bequest and the 
Powerhouse Museum, explores Australian experiences  
of home across the past 100 years, encompassing 
domestic architecture, design, and technology, alongside 
contemporary social issues. The exhibition was presented 
at the Penrith Regional Gallery with great success and  
is now on show at the Museum until 27 January 2020.

Student Fashion 2019
Student Fashion 2019 showcased outfits from the final-
year ranges of top students from four Sydney-based 
fashion design schools: Fashion Design Studio, TAFE 
NSW, Ultimo Campus, Raffles College of Design and 
Commerce, University of Technology, Sydney and 
Whitehouse Institute of Design, Australia. The 2019 
participants were Jessica Xie, Kan-Lu Lu, Athena 
Khanefard, and Valeska Dominguez.

2019 Architectural Commission: Agora
Agora was the second in a series of three annual 
architecture installations commissioned by the Museum. 
Funded by a private donor, the annual commission is  
an opportunity for the Museum to support Australian 
architecture and design practitioners. The Powerhouse 
Museum’s publicly accessible forecourt was selected  
as the site for the commission in 2019, in response  
to a growing emphasis on public space and need for 
community engagement in Australia’s developing cities.

Designed by Drew Penhale and Shane Winter in 
collaboration with Kieran Murnane, the classical 
arrangement of walls and colonnades created a 
contemporary agora space to coincide with the 2019 
Sydney Design Festival. 
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Sydney Science Festival 2018
Coinciding with National Science Week, the Sydney 
Science Festival was a 13-day program (7–19 August) run 
by the Museum that investigated how science informs 
and intersects with the contemporary issues we face 
every day, ranging from climate change and oceanic 
pollution, how to halt aging to the future of space travel.

Through scientific debates, exhibitions and events across 
Sydney, the annual Festival occupies cultural spaces, 
universities and leading research institutions including  
the Powerhouse Museum, Australian National Maritime 
Museum, Australian Museum, Western Sydney University, 
University of Sydney, University of New South Wales, 
Centennial Parklands and The Royal Botanic Gardens.  
This year over 72,000 people attended 160 events including 
exhibitions, panel discussions, talks, performances with 
leading scientists and conservationists. Highlights of this 
year’s festival included an in-conversation with Museum 
Trustee Dr Eddie Woo and the 2018 Indigenous Science 
Symposium which focused on exploring and sharing the 
sophistication, richness, and leadership of Australia’s First 
Peoples within the scientific domain. 

Sydney Design Festival 2019
The theme of the 2019 Sydney Design Festival, Accessing 
Design, promoted responsive design that gives voice to 
diverse Sydney communities, and asked designers to 
broaden the definition of design and expand the dialogue 
between creative practice, access and inclusivity. Accessing 
Design looked at various concerns including geography, 
race, gender, and socioeconomic issues. Attended by  
55,433 people, the festival program (1–10 March) included 
138 events across 102 program partners. Highlights from this 
program included an in-conversation with Akira Isogawa 
unpacking his exhibition, talks with Portuguese architecture 
and design studio Fala Atelier, and British engagement 
designers Loop.pH. Other highlights include a talk by 
visually impaired lighting designer Duncan Meerding, 
delivered in partnership with Accessible Arts, talks by 
Architecture Commission designers Penhale and Winter  
in collaboration with Kieran Murnane in their Agora 
installation and the 2019 Indigenous Design Symposium, 
which focused on the work of Indigenous women and 
included guest panellists Megan Cope, Glenda Nicholls, 
Aunty Joanne Selfe, and Vicki West.

The 2019 Sydney Design Festival was supported by the 
British Council Australia.  

Lunar eclipse 
On 28 July 2018, a total lunar eclipse was visible from 
Australia. To celebrate the occasion of the eclipse and  
the opposition of Mars, Sydney Observatory held an early 
morning sold-out event. Observable in Australia on 
average once every 2.8 years, lunar eclipses occur when 
the Moon moves into the shadow of the Earth. At the 
time Mars was the closest it had been to Earth since 
2003, making it appear bigger and more detailed through 
our telescopes. Audiences enjoyed viewing Mars and the 
eclipse through our historic and modern telescopes and 
binoculars guided by our expert astronomers.

Earth Hour 
On 30 March Sydney Observatory opened its doors for 
its annual Earth Hour event. Now in its 13th year, Earth 
Hour connects millions of people all over the world and 
inspires them to take action on climate change. Inspired 
by the Earth Hour theme connect2earth, this year 
Sydney Observatory focused its lens on the biological 
and geophysical wonders of our home planet. 
Geophysicist Dietmar Mullar delivered a lecture on what 
makes Earth unique in our solar system, focusing on the 
circumstances that led to the emergence of life on Earth 
and how it has forever changed our atmosphere, 
landscape and planet. Macquarie University biologist 
Michelle Power gave talks about the grey-headed flying 
fox colonies residing in the Observatory Hill fig trees. 
Experts from the Wildlife Rescue Education Service 
shared the plight of Sydney’s urban wildlife and let 
people know what they can do if they encounter local 
wildlife in need. After the city lights dimmed, visitors 
were invited by astronomers to look through the 
telescopes to see glimpses of Mars, the Jewel Box star 
cluster and the majestic Orion Nebula, where new stars 
in our galaxy are born.

Tours and education at Sydney Observatory
Public tours at Sydney Observatory continued with 
36,022 people attending Night Tours, Twilight Tours and 
Day Tours. Audiences on the tours gained greater 
appreciation of the Night Sky while discovering how to 
identify constellations, the seasonal movement of the 
planets and stars, and the latest astronomical 
discoveries. Visitation peaked during the winter months 
and during school holidays. Throughout the year the 
themes of the tour changed to speak to historic 
anniversaries and astronomical events including the 
July-August 2018 Opposition of Mars and the 2019 
Apollo 11 Anniversary. 

In November 2018, we partnered with entertainment  
and ideas platform, This is 42, and presented a special 
VIP tour of Sydney Observatory alongside physicist and 
science communicator Dr Michio Kaku ahead of his 
presentation at the Sydney Opera House. 
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International program talks 
The Museum presented five international guest speakers 
for visitors, staff and key stakeholders. 

In March, Rachel Wingfield, Founder Loop.pH, gave the 
keynote lecture at the Sydney Design Festival and for 
International Women’s Day. Addressing key stakeholders  
and members of the community, Rachel presented on the 
London-based spatial laboratory, experimenting across 
the fields of design, architecture and the sciences. 
Rachael also delivered a hands-on workshop, where 
participants collaborated to create an Archilace 
installation in the Powerhouse turbine hall. 

The Sydney Design Festival also included a presentation  
by Ana Luisa Soares, Founder and Director Fala Atelier. 
Delivered in partnership with the University of 
Queensland, Ana discussed Fala Atelier’s interventions 
into the Portuguese built environment, providing insight 
into the graphic and poetic framework of their work. 

David Gianotten, Powerhouse Precint Architectural Jury 
Member, presented in April while he was in Sydney 
judging Stage 1 of the competition. David provided 
insights on recent OMA projects including the Taipei 
Performing Arts Centre, Faena Arts District and the  
New Museum for Western Australia.

In May, the Museum hosted Mark Wee, Executive 
Director of the DesignSingapore Council. Mark 
presented to both staff and key stakeholders about 
Design 2025, Singapore’s design masterplan. Developed 
in 2015, it envisions Singapore to be a thriving innovation-
driven economy and a loveable city by 2025.

In June, as part of a partnership with design industry 
partners Australian Graphic Design Association (AGDA),  
the Museum hosted a public talk by Adam J Kurtz, 
Founder and Director of multidisciplinary design studio 
ADAMJK. Adam discussed the evolving role of design 
and language in their modern context.

Regional and Western Sydney
The Powerhouse has delivered a wide range of educational 
workshops, programs, and events that engage with 
Western Sydney and Regional NSW audiences.

Held in partnership with Western Sydney University,  
City of Parramatta and Architects Institute of Australia  
NSW chapter, the Making the City talk series 
commenced in March at PSQ1, a campus of the 
University of Western Sydney in Parramatta. Speakers 
including Sarah Lynn Rees, Jess Austin, Donald Bates, 
Linda Kennedy and Louise Crabtree discussed the 
current state of architecture and place making through 
the themes of cultural anchors, resilience, disruption, 
identity and equity.

Our ongoing Regional programs continue to engage with 
museum and gallery stakeholders across the state, 
providing museological workshops in areas such as 
curation, editing and publishing, programming, 
conservation, photography and documentation at MDC 
and at venues regionally. In November 2018, the 
Museum, in partnership with Regional Arts NSW and 
Museums and Galleries NSW held a Regional 
Stakeholders forum. This forum consisted of talks, 
hands-on workshops, demonstrations and tours focused 
on increasing outreach, professional development, and 
networking opportunities for the regional arts sector.
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The Powerhouse Museum is an interdisciplinary 
museum, uniquely placed to support learners understand 
the past, present and future through the lens of Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Arts and Mathematics. 

Our schools program offers a year-round suite of  
on-demand and scheduled experiences, available to 
schools online via video conferencing and onsite via 
excursion to the Museum’s three venues. Connection  
to the curriculum lies at the heart of each of our  
school experiences, and our 2018–19 programs drew 
attendance of 63,911. 

Our school attendance at Sydney Observatory was also 
strong this year, with 15,968 learners attending the site. 
This result can be attributed to the new curriculum-
targeted programs and the new site specific learning 
materials. Further to this, our Adult Education courses, 
led by Dr Paul Payne continued to be a popular option 
for audiences wanting to gain more in-depth knowledge 
about the cosmos.

Key highlights
In August 2018, the Powerhouse launched the pilot of  
the NSW Premier’s Coding Challenge, with support  
from the NSW Office of the Chief Scientist and Engineer.  
The pilot partnered with more than 50 schools and was 
celebrated in December 2018 with a year-end expo of 
participating schools showcasing their projects submitted 
to the Challenge. The event was attended by NSW 
Premier Gladys Berejiklian and NSW Chief Scientist and 
Engineer Professor Hugh Durrant-Whyte, who presented 
award certificates to participating schools.    

Full STEAM Ahead was run for the fourth year at the 
Powerhouse Museum during the first week of May 2019. 
Full STEAM Ahead is a program run in partnership with the 
Australian Business and Community Network (ABCN) and 
Commonwealth Bank, designed to introduce learners in low 
SES schools to diverse career opportunities in technology. 
This year the program involved over 1200 students onsite  
at the Museum. The program also runs concurrently with 
online and virtual experiences for schools across Australia 
that mirror the onsite experience.

In 2019 the Powerhouse delivered the third and final year  
of the Western Sydney Coding Club, supported by the Crown  
Resorts and Packer Family Foundations. The program was 
designed to provide sustainable support to schools and 
educators to implement coding programs. It has served 
more than 90 schools, more than 275 teachers and more 
than 6,000 students to date.

Indigenous smoking ceremony 
In January 2019, 160 Museum staff and volunteers gathered 
on the Powerhouse Museum forecourt to take part in an 
Indigenous smoking ceremony led by Matthew Doyle. 
Proceedings began with a cleansing of the Museum’s 
buildings the night before and concluded with a ceremony 
involving participants through burning leaves, followed by  
a moment of quiet contemplation and reflection. 

Annual MABO Day Address
The Museum’s annual Mabo Day Address was held on 
Friday 31 May for National Reconciliation Week 2019. This 
year, Dr Jeff McMullen AM presented the fifth Mabo 
Address. Best known from his work on television, 
McMullen has been a foreign correspondent for 
Australian Broadcasting Corporation, reporter for Four 
Corners and Sixty Minutes, anchor of the 33-part issue 
series on ABC Television, Difference of Opinion and host 
of forums on National Indigenous Television. For over five 
decades as a journalist, author, and film-maker, McMullen 
has given voice to the struggle by First Nations Peoples in 
Australia and around the world. His focus is on improving 
education and health while addressing the fundamental 
human rights of First Peoples. 

Reconciliation Action Plan update
This year the Powerhouse celebrated two years since the 
launch of its first Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). Since 
the RAP was launched in May 2017 we have achieved and 
exceeded all of our targets. Some of the key achievements 
included the development and implementation of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Recruitment and 
Retention Strategy, the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Media and Communications Strategy and the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Procurement Policy. 

The Powerhouse is currently developing the next 
iteration of our RAP that will run from 2020–22. 

LEARNING INDIGENOUS ENGAGEMENT
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COLLECTION

A total of 71 new acquisitions comprising 223 objects 
were accessioned into to the Museum’s collection 
throughout 2018–19. Objects were acquired through the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation as 
well as through donations and major bequests. Highlight 
acquisitions are outlined below. A full list of acquisitions 
can be found in the Appendices.

Acquisition highlights
Akira Isogawa archive
In conjunction with the Museum’s major survey of the 
work of fashion designer, Akira Isogawa, the Museum 
received a donation of 80 garments and accessories 
from Akira’s archive dating from his early career to most 
recent collections. Donated by Akira through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, the 
collection included finished garments, runway looks as 
well as examples of inspiration and design development. 
Akira has pledged to donate a further 200 objects to the 
Museum making its collection the most significant 
repository of Akira’s work nationally and internationally.

The Seat of Love and Hate
This major commission by Canberra-based artist  
eX de Medici was completed in 2018, strengthening  
the Museum’s contemporary collection. Originally a  
French love sofa, The Seat of Love and Hate and 
accompanying Ammunition Tiles explore the interplay  
of gender relationships within a domestic context and  
feature an elaborate embroidered design with stylised 
weapons inspired by the Museum’s collection. These works 
were commissioned by the Musuem as a site-specific 
installation in association with The Ideal Home exhibition  
at Penrith Reginal Gallery and the Powerhouse Museum.

The Institute of Isolation
The Museum continued to enrich its collection of 
contemporary, multi-disciplinary work exploring the 
intersection of the arts and sciences through the 
acquisition of Lucy McRae’s The Institute of Isolation. 
Renowned internationally for her pioneering work as a 
body architect, McCrae speculates on the future of 
human existence by exploring the limits of the body, 
beauty, biotechnology and the self, allowing us to 
explore the potential implications of scientific and 
technological advancement. Her fictional documentary 
and associated costume explore the future of human 
evolution, or how the human body could be trained to 
adapt to extreme environments such as outer space, 
provoking us to contemplate whether isolation might  
be used to improve human resilience.

Romance Was Born
The Australian Fashion Fund enabled the acquisition of 
four outstanding women’s outfits from Romance was 
Born’s ‘kinda couture’ 2019 Resort collection. These 
outfits reference the Museum’s collection of Jenny Kee’s 
garments textiles and artwork and will be included in the 
Step into Paradise exhibition. They reflect the designers’ 
unique collaborations with artists, musicians and 
designers, which are a key feature of designers Anna 
Plunkett and Luke Sales’ creative process.

The Willoughby Bequest
The Barry Willoughby Bequest is a major fund dedicated 
to the acquisition of contemporary Australian glass and 
ceramics which enabled the purchase of two large  
studio glass forms by Clare Belfrage Quiet Shifting,  
Blue and Green and Quiet Shifting, Pink and Green 2018. 
These pieces epitomise the originality and superb 
technical skills of an artist whose practice is renowned for 
pushing the limits of blown glass with carved surface 
reliefs in new directions. The works were inspired by the 
stone monoliths at Mount Buffalo in the Australian Alps. 
They were illustrated in the 40th Anniversary issue of 
New Glass Now reinforcing the national and international 
significance of this acquisition.

Bombora guitar
Reflecting our strategic commitment to music and 
performance, and with the assistance of the Australian 
Government through the National Cultural Heritage 
Account, the Museum purchased a Fender Stratocaster 
used in the writing, recording and performance of 
various instrumentals by iconic surf rock band The 
Atlantics, including their international hit ‘Bombora’ 
which reached No.1 on the Australian charts in 1963. The 
song is part of the National Film and Sound Archive’s The 
Sounds of Australia list which features a select group of 
‘sound recordings of cultural, historical and aesthetic 
significance and relevance, which inform or reflect life in 
Australia’. This instrument is not only significant in terms 
of its provenance, it is also a rare example of a finely 
made and iconic electric guitar.

DNA collection kit
The Museum acquired a DNA collection kit from the 
genealogy site Ancestry. The development of online  
DNA kits during the early 21st century represents a 
distinct shift within the field of genealogy; the study of 
family ancestral lines. It also demonstrates the impact  
of technology, particularly the internet, on existing 
scientific and anthropological fields. The introduction of 
at-home DNA kits also brings into question the continuity 
of companies and individuals wishing to amass official, 
large-scale data bases of personal information regarding 
human characteristics. Whilst Ancestry isn’t the first 
company to undertake mass accumulation of medical 
data, the booming popularity of DNA test-kits has ignited 
several ethical debates regarding potential violations of 
privacy in the internet era.

Implantable monitoring devices and biosensors 
A set of three electronic biometric implant devices built 
by Grindhouse Wetware and Livestock Labs was 
acquired in line with collection development priorities 
across engineering, science and technology. Augmenting 
the Museum’s significant collection of implantable 
medical devices such as cochlear implants, pacemakers, 
artificial hearts and drug implants, these objects 
document the growth of cybernetics and the biohacking 
movement which has become more prominent over the 
last five to eight years. The USA-based hacker group 
Grindhouse Wetware has been a leader in promoting 
cheap, open source development of biotechnology. 
These objects are examples of cybernetic technology 
developed outside of traditional research institutions  
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in a ‘DIY’ science environment. Examples of self-
experimentation, these objects also illustrate the aspects 
of the body modification and human enhancement 
movements and transhumanism ideology.

Outgoing loans
The Museum loaned 375 collection objects to 42 institutions 
in 52 individual loan arrangements. Internationally, the 
Museum loaned seven objects to the Australian National 
Maritime Museum for display at Otago Museum, Dunedin, 
New Zealand for the touring exhibition James Cameron: 
Challenging the Deep. Throughout NSW and locally we have 
supported exhibitions by lending objects from the collection 
to organisations, including Penrith Regional Gallery & The 
Lewers Bequest, Museum of Contemporary Art (MCA) and 
Hazelhurst Regional Gallery & Arts Centre. The collection 
was represented nationally in a diverse range of contexts 
including exhibitions at the Australian War Memorial and 
the National Film and Sound Archive of Australia, Canberra 
and the Old Treasury Building, Melbourne.

Incoming loans
Each year the Museum sources incoming loans for 
inclusion in our exhibition program. This year we 
managed 116 active incoming loans, comprising 837 
items. Highlights of significant loans included the 
exhibition Akira Isogawa, supported by 11 loans including 
material from the Arts Centre Melbourne and National 
Gallery of Victoria. Star Wars Identities: The Exhibition 
constituted a single loan of 195 items from the United 
States of America drawing on original models and 
costumes from the Lucasfilm Archive. Apollo 11 was 
supported by four loans, including two from the United 
States of America. The exhibition Human non Human 
was supported by six loans including five negotiated 
directly with the artists represented in the show, Liam 
Young, Lindsay Kelly, Ken Thaiday, Jason Christopher 
and Maria Fernanda Cordoso. The exhibition Reflections 
of Asia: Collectors and Collections was supported by 
three loans from lenders including White Rabbit Gallery 
and the Gene and Brian Sherman Collection. 

Collection storage access
The Museum’s collection storage across both sites 
(Ultimo and Castle Hill) was accessed by 1,355 visitors 
across 201 separate requests. Museum staff conducted 
62 guided tours and facilitated 24 research requests. 
Included in these figures are 15 separate donor or family 
viewings and 36 special interest groups. Visitors 
included members of the Australian Fashion Council,  
a textile special interest group from the Australian 
Institute for the Conservation Cultural Material (AICCM), 
staff from the Australian Olympic Committee and 
descendants of James Ruse.

Research and Photo Library 
The Research Library welcomed 124 visitors and 
responded to 245 external reference enquiries. As a 
member of the Libraries Australia Document Delivery 
(LADD) service, managed by the National Library of 
Australia, the Research Library supplied 48 book loans 
and 11 articles to libraries in Australia and New Zealand. 
The Research Library also added 84 and updated four 
bibliographic holdings in Libraries Australia, for 
contribution to the Trove discovery service. External 
researchers included academics, fashion designers, 
authors, theatre students, architects and set designers.

The Photo Library responded to 153 public enquiries,  
and accessioned, catalogued, uploaded and archived 
8,335 new digital photographs from the Museum’s 
Digital Studio. Catalogue entries were also created for 
approximately 30,000 film images, comprised of colour 
and black and white negatives and transparencies from 
the People and PR categories, 1980–2000. The Photo 
Library supplied images to clients such as Phaidon Press, 
the Kluge-Ruhe Aboriginal Art Collection, Musée du 
Quai Branly and James Cook University. The supply of 
images earned $13,325 in income.
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The Museum is an industry partner on four Australian 
Research Council (ARC) Linkage projects. These projects 
assist the Museum in building an internationally and 
nationally respected research culture and expand the 
knowledge and skills base across the Museum. These 
projects are deepening and widening the diversity and 
quality of the Museum’s partnerships with tertiary and 
industry partners and enriching the collection through 
best practice research associated with collection 
conservation, digital technology innovation, education, 
audience research and curatorial methodologies.

A national framework for malignant plastics in museum 
collections is led by Dr Petronella Nell at the University of 
Melbourne. The Museum’s lead researcher, Conservator 
Sue Gatenby, is collecting data, analysing plastic samples 
and assisting with recommendations regarding plastics 
conservation. This project is projected to run until February 
2021 and is an important research project in conserving our 
nationally and internationally significant plastics collection 
and contributing to a national museum collection initiative.

Innovative Learning Environments and Teacher Change is led 
by Dr Wesley Imms at the University of Melbourne and 
involves a large consortium of industry partners including 
the Powerhouse. The project is examining the gap between 
the educational potential of innovative learning environment 
design, and their actual performance, working with schools, 
government and industry. It is intended that this project  
will guide developments in pedagogy, policy and design  
and produce strategies to enable improved learning in 
schools across Australia and New Zealand. The lead 
researcher at the Museum is Peter Mahony in Education  
and Digital Learning and it is expected this project will 
complete in 2020.

An outcome of Curating Third Space: The Value of Art-
Science Collaborations was the exhibition Human non 
Human held at the Powerhouse Museum in the second half 
of 2018. The Museum partnered with the UNSW, Art and 
Design on this ARC Linkage project which investigated the 
importance of art-science collaboration in contemporary 
research. The project focused on the human impact of 
collaborative cultures through case-studies of major 
international art-science projects. Findings will inform 
strategies for cultural programming, to enable museums  
to support art–science exploration and to increase the 
engagement of new audiences with both art and scientific 
research. Other partners in the project were The Australia 
Council for the Arts; Foundation for Art and Creative 
Technology (FACT), UK and ArtScience Museum, Singapore. 
Three Visual Matrix workshops were hosted by the Museum 
over the duration of the project to support research 
methodology for visitor evaluations.

The Australian Research Council announced in April 2019 
that Redefining museum experience as an immersive 
networked narrative submitted by the UNSW iCinema 
Research Centre with the Museum as the Industry Partner 
was successful. The grant will be for $463,633 over three 
years and will lead to the development of an artificial 
intelligence (AI) enhanced collection database that 
facilitates networked immersive interaction with the 
Museum’s collection. It will also contribute to the collection 
digitisation project. The lead researchers are Matthew 
Connell, Principal Curator and Arul Baskaran, Digital Studio 
Manager. This project is estimated to complete in 2023.

Fellowships
Dr Oliver Bown (School of Art and Design, UNSW, 
Co-Director of the Interactive Media Lab) completed his 
Visiting Research Fellowship investigating the Museum’s 
collection of player pianos and equipment from the 
Mastertouch Piano Roll Company. His research formed 
the basis of a new exhibition that opened at the Museum 
in February 2019 enhancing the Museum’s reputation 
through profiling transdisciplinary research and new 
technology development. Spiral and the Mechanical 
Music Factory was a musical composition and installation 
that explored the mechanical and performative nature of 
self-playing instruments and showed how artists are 
rethinking the experience of music through using 
contemporary music technologies. The project was 
realised through a collaboration with  
the musical ensemble Tangents and received support 
from Bitscope, ROLI, Ableton and Musos Corner.

Other Visiting Research Fellows included Dr Fiona 
Cameron, Senior Research Fellow at the Institute for 
Culture and Society, Western Sydney University and 
Visiting Professor at Linköping University, Sweden.  
She investigated climate change and ‘born digital’ items  
in the collection. Dr Karin Sellberg and Associate 
Professor Elizabeth Stephens, University of Queensland, 
Brisbane, Australia have been conducting research on 
Visualising the History and Future of Speculative Anatomy 
looking at anatomical models in Museum’s collection. 

Dr Andrew Burrell (UTS), Rachel Hendery (WSU) and 
Kate Richards (WSU) have been collectively exploring 
how people interpret and connect objects with their 
metadata (museum records, archival files, associated 
audiovisual material, and/or related data visualisations 
like maps and graphs). In this research project they 
experimented with ways in which a user can unlock 
these associations through natural interactions with the 
object in a virtual reality space. Research generated  
from these fellowships will be profiled in scholarly 
articles in nationally significant journals and discussed  
in upcoming talks for Museum staff and stakeholders. 
These fellowships are enriching knowledge about the 
collection and creating new opportunities regarding the 
objects’ recontextualisation and social relevance.

COLLABORATION AND RESEARCH
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The Museum was pleased to welcome talented 
individuals to the team. A major focus was the 
recruitment for the Powerhouse Program’s Collection 
Relocation and Digitisation Project. This has brought  
new talent to the organisation and provided internal 
development opportunities for many existing staff.

During this period of change, the Museum recognised 
the value of encouraging a work environment that 
supports the health and wellbeing of its employees.  
In 2018, the Museum implemented a digital Employee 
Assistance Program, teaching skills that prevent stress 
and improve resilience and a new wellbeing framework. 

Individual professional development within the Museum 
remains a priority; with staff attending a range of internal 
and external courses and conferences in line with their 
Performance Development Plans. The Museum 
continues to support employees who wish to pursue 
tertiary studies through the Studies Assistance program 
and this year approved 110 hours of study time towards 
ongoing professional development. The Museum also 
invested in leadership development with a range of 
leadership courses focusing on performance, resilience 
and leadership skills.  

Inclusion and diversity
The Museum is committed to promoting a fair workplace 
which is free of all forms of harassment and discrimination 
for all staff members, contractors and volunteers. The 
Museum actively promotes policies and practices that 
promote equity principles and protect against discrimination 
or harassment against a staff member or job applicant based 
on age, sex, pregnancy, disability, race, colour, ethnic or 
ethno-religious background, descent or nationality, marital 
status, carer’s responsibilities, sexuality or gender. 

The Museum promotes and embeds diversity and inclusion 
in all our recruitment processes, workplace culture 
initiatives, career development programs, customer  
service training and policies and processes. This year the  
Museum celebrated two years since the launch of its first 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). Since the RAP was 
launched in May 2017 we have achieved and exceeded all  
of our targets. In 2018–19, the Powerhouse Museum also 
continued to implement practical steps to remove barriers 
for people with disability. The Powerhouse partnered with 
Accessible Arts to deliver Disability Awareness Training to 
staff. The Museum’s Sydney Design Festival 2019 also 
responded directly to themes of access and the intersection 
with design. Accessibility will also be in embedded in all 
design aspects of the Powerhouse Program. 

Volunteers 
Now in its 30th year, the Museum’s Volunteer Program 
creates a link between the Museum and the community, 
enriching the experience the collection and exhibitions 
offer. 385 volunteers worked with Museum staff to 
deliver programs and services throughout the year.  
Their contribution represented 28,087 labour hours. 
Specialised recruitment of volunteers for projects and 
exhibitions included Star Wars characters in costume  
for STAR WARS™ Identities: The Exhibition, textile 
experts to assist with the Akira Isogawa exhibition and 
event volunteers to support Sydney Design Festival  
and Sydney Science Festival.

Volunteers were offered training in several areas 
including diversity awareness, communicating and 
engaging with family audiences, delivering Interactive 
experiences and exhibition walk throughs.

Workplace Health and Safety
The Museum continues to improve its Workplace Health 
and Safety (WHS) systems and practices. The focus over 
the past 12 months has been on the development and 
implementation of a WHS framework policy and the 
WHS Management System. The WHS framework policy 
aligns all of the individual WHS policies and procedures 
and links them into one management system.  

In 2018–2019, six workers compensation claims were 
recorded and of those, three lost time injuries occurred. 
All workers were successfully rehabilitated to pre-injury 
duties. A focus on lag and lead indicators and causative 
factors of all injuries will continue and preventative 
strategies, such as training and awareness programs,  
will be implemented. 

As part of the staff engagement and consultation process 
the Museum has an active WHS Committee which meets 
four times a year. The Committee includes representation 
from all areas of the organisation and staff are 
encouraged to bring to the attention of their respective 
WHS representative any WHS-related issues or hazards 
they may see in any Museum venue. In addition, WHS 
remains a priority standing item at the Board of Trustees 
meeting and monthly reports are provided. 

Ongoing WHS training is conducted in house or via 
external providers. Records of all training undertaken by 
Museum staff are documented. Some examples of staff 
training conducted during this year include Managing 
Hazardous Chemicals, First Aid Training, White Card 
Construction Site, Manual Handling, Mental Health First 
Aid and Electrical Tag and Testing training.

PEOPLE
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Corporate governance
The Museum is operated and maintained by the Trustees 
of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, which is 
constituted as a body corporate under the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945 (Museum’s Act). 

The Museum is governed by a Board of Trustees 
appointed under the Museum’s Act. Under the provisions 
of the Act, the nine Trustees are appointed by the 
Governor, on the recommendation of the Minister, for a 
term of up to three years, and may serve for a maximum 
of three full terms, excepting if their first term was not  
a full term they may be appointed for a fourth term.  
The Trustees represent the community and oversee the 
management and policy direction of the Museum. 

The Act 3(1) states in part ‘There shall be appointed nine 
trustees … who, subject to the control and direction of 
the Minister, shall carry into effect the objects and 
purposes of this Act’. 

The Trust met four times in 2018–19 and held a number 
of additional Powerhouse Program project governance 
meetings, in-person briefings and teleconferences as 
required to consider and advise on procedural and policy 
matters related to the Powerhouse Program. 

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 
comprised: 

–  Professor Barney Glover (President) 
–  Ms Lisa Chung (Deputy President) 
–  David Borger (from 1.1.2019)
–  Dr Alex Birrell
–  Paddy Carney (from 1.1.2019)
–  Mr Robert Cameron AO (until 31.12.2018)
–  Ms Elizabeth Crouch (until 31.12.2018)
–  Mr Tim Ebbeck 
–  Kellie Hush (1.1.2019)
–  Mr Darren Steinberg (from 1.1.2019) 
–  Professor Salah Sukkarieh (until 31.12.2018)
–  Dr Eddie Woo (from 1.1.2019)

(For details about the Trustees see Appendix 1.) 

Dr Eddie Woo satisfies the requirement that ‘at least  
one person has knowledge of, or experience in, the arts  
or sciences’. 

Professor Barney Glover satisfies the requirement that 
‘at least one person has knowledge of, or experience in, 
education.’ 

On appointment, Trustees are provided with a 
comprehensive Trustee Handbook, which outlines 
governance and procedural arrangements, and a 
summary of the Museum’s structure and operations.

Trustees are required to complete a Declaration of 
Pecuniary Interests and a Related Party Disclosure 
Certificate at the commencement of each financial year.

The Board of Trustees has established the Finance Audit 
and Risk Management (FARM) Committee in compliance 
with the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for 
the NSW Public Sector. 

The objective of the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Management (FARM) Committee is to provide 
independent assistance to the Board by monitoring, 
reviewing and providing advice about governance 
processes, risk management and control frameworks, 
and its external accountability obligations. 

The FARM Committee supports and advises the Board 
on the financial position and performance of the 
Museum, including annual financial statements and 
annual budget.  

The FARM Committee consists of at least three (3) 
members, and no more than five (5) members, appointed 
by the President of the Board. The members collectively 
develop, possess and maintain a broad range of skills 
and experience relevant to the operations, governance 
and financial management of the Musuem, the 
environment in which it operates and the contribution 
that the FARM Committee makes to the Museum.   
At least one member of the Committee must have 
accounting or related financial management experience, 
with an understanding of accounting and auditing 
standards in a public sector environment.  

The FARM Committee is directly responsible and 
accountable to the Board for the exercise of its 
responsibilities. In carrying out its responsibilities, the 
FARM Committee recognises that primary responsibility 
for management of the Museum rests with the Board.  

The FARM Committee, comprising Elizabeth Crouch 
(Chair and Trustee), Tim Ebbeck (Member and Trustee), 
Paddy Carney (Chair and Trustee), Kellie Hush (Member 
and Trustee) and Allan Cook (Independent Member), 
met four times during the reporting year in addition to 
holding one extraordinary meeting as follows: 

–  31 July 2018: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck,  
Allan Cook 

–  18 September 2018 (extraordinary meeting):  
Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck, Allan Cook

–  13 November 2018: Elizabeth Crouch, Tim Ebbeck,  
Allan Cook  

–  6 March 2019: Paddy Carney, Tim Ebbeck, Allan Cook 

–  8 May 2019: Paddy Carney, Allan Cook

GOVERNANCE



17Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2018–19

Attestation statement (TPP 15-03)
I, Professor Barney Glover, am of the opinion that the 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences has internal audit  
and risk management processes in operation that are 
compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in  
the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the  
NSW Public Sector, specifically:  

Core Requirements  
1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and 
accountable for risk management in the agency 
COMPLIANT  

1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to  
the agency has been established and maintained and the 
framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 
Internal Audit Function COMPLIANT 

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and 
maintained COMPLIANT  

2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is 
consistent with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing COMPLIANT  

2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is 
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ 
Internal Audit COMPLIANT  

3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with 
appropriate expertise has been established COMPLIANT 

3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory 
committee providing assistance to the agency head on 
the agency’s governance processes, risk management 
and control frameworks, and its external accountability 
obligations COMPLIANT 

 3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is 
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Audit  
and Risk Committee COMPLIANT 

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk  
Committee are: 

–  Independent Chair, Elizabeth Crouch  
Term: 11 March 2016 – 31 December 2018; 

–  Independent Chair, Paddy Carney  
Term: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2021 

–  Independent Member 1, Tim Ebbeck  
Term 27 November 2017 –  29 March 2019 

–  Independent Member 2, Allan Cook  
Term: 31 January 2018 – 30 January 2020

–  Independent Member 3, Kellie Hush 
Term: 30 March 2019 – 29 March 2022

The Head of Governance Planning and Reporting is the 
Museum’s Chief Audit Executive and Chief Risk Officer.

Risk management
The Museum is committed to a risk management  
culture where risk management is seen as integral to  
the achievement of our strategic commitments at all 
levels and where all employees are alert to risks and 
opportunities. The Museum continued to embed the  
Risk Management Framework and Policy increasing risk 
maturity across the organisation in 2018–19. The Museum 
won the icare Insurance for New South Wales annual 
award for Risk Management Frameworks, Systems and 
Processes for the creative approach in using a human-
centred design to embed risk management at the 
strategic, business and operational level.  

The Risk Framework and Policy complies with Internal 
Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW public 
sector (TPP 15-03) published by Treasury. As required by 
the policy, the Risk Framework and Policy is based on 
the international risk management standard AS/NZS 
ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management – Principles and 
Guidelines (ISO 31000). The Chief Risk Officer regularly 
reports to the FARM Committee, whose overall 
objective is to provide independent assistance to the 
Trust in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to 
financial reporting, risk management, compliance and 
the audit function.  

Continuous improvement
The implementation and maintenance of a sound 
governance foundation continues to be a priority.  
The Museum is committed to the development of policy 
and planning frameworks that underpin organisational 
planning and enterprise to improve business operations 
and to ensure it complies with all NSW Government 
obligations. In line with its commitment to move 
towards a paperless office, the Museum developed 
education and training modules to support staff in 
electronic record keeping. 

The Museum continued to strengthen policy 
development and review with the following policies 
updated and approved in the 2018–19 financial year: 
Bullying Prevention Policy, Governance Framework, 
Collection Development Policy (reviewed and updated), 
Research Policy and Framework, Research Strategy, 
Policy Framework – Governing Policy, Records 
Management Framework.
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FINANCE

Year in review
The Museum’s income comprises self-generated revenues 
and grants from the NSW Government. In 2018/19 the 
grants were distributed through the Department of 
Planning and Environment. 

To drive self-generated revenue, the Museum created 
and presented two internally developed exhibitions,  
Akira Isogawa (December 2018) and Apollo 11 (June 2019).  
The Museum also hosted two major travelling exhibitions: 
Reigning Men: Fashion in Menswear, 1715–2015, which 
ran from May to October 2018, and STAR WARS™ 
Identities: The Exhibition, which ran from November  
2018 to June 2019. 

Onsite visitation across all Museum sites was 2% higher 
than the prior year, with general admissions being up 11%.  
Revenue from the sale of goods and services increased by 
16% to $10,393,000 (2017–18: $8,924,000). This included 
total sales of goods and services from STAR WARS™ 
Identities of $4,716,000. 

Total Government contributions to the Museum were 
$31,232,000. This included an increase in recurrent 
funding to $29,364,000 which was $809,000 higher 
than the previous year. Other grants and contributions 
were higher than the previous year at $7,896,000 
(2017–18: $4,672,000) with the major contributor being 
grant funding of $4,193,000 from DPE with regard to  
the Powerhouse Program. 

Employee related expenses were $360,000 lower than 
the previous year at $29,923,000 (2017–18: $30,283,000). 
Included in this figure were Powerhouse Program related 
salaries funded via the Department of Planning and 
Environment of $2,127,000.

Other operating expenses were comparable to the 
previous year at $18,738,000 (2017–18: $18,670,000). 
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution  
of the Trustees of  the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 
2015, the Treasurer’s Directions and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at  
30 June 2019 and the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover Lisa Havilah
President Chief Executive

Date: 30 September 2019

FINANCIAL REPORT



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences (the Museum), which comprises the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information of the Museum and 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises the Museum and the entity it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Museum and the consolidated entity as
at 30 June 2019, and of their financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’
section of my report.

I am independent of the Museum and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of 
the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Other Information 
The Museum’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019 includes other information in addition to
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Museum 
are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the signed Statement in accordance with section 41C of the 
PF&A Act.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the ability of the
Museum and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to:
• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error
• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements.

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts 
and Sciences (the Museum), which comprises the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019, the Statement of
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information of the Museum and 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises the Museum and the entity it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Museum and the consolidated entity as
at 30 June 2019, and of their financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’
section of my report.

I am independent of the Museum and the consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of 
the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Other Information 
The Museum’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019 includes other information in addition to
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Museum 
are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the signed Statement in accordance with section 41C of the 
PF&A Act.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the ability of the
Museum and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to:
• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error
• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements.

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.



My opinion does not provide assurance:

• that the Museum or the consolidated entity carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and
economically

• about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial
statements

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial
statements on any website where they may be presented

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Reiky Jiang
Director, Financial Audit Service

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales

30 September 2019
SYDNEY
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statements

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial
statements on any website where they may be presented

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.
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Director, Financial Audit Service

Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales

30 September 2019
SYDNEY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2019

$000

Budget
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

Personnel services 2(a) - - - 29,923 30,283

Employee related 2(b) 29,923 26,675 30,283 - - 

Other operating expenses 2(c) 18,738 16,038 18,670 18,738 18,670

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 8,070 6,047 15,645 8,070 15,645

Other Expenses 2(e) 859 - 32 859 32

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES 57,590 48,760 64,630 57,590 64,630

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 10,393 9,244 8,924 10,393 8,924 

Investment revenue 3(b) 225 165 140 225 140 

Grants and contributions 3(c) 39,128 35,232 37,195 39,932 37,916 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities

804 879 721 - -

Other revenue 3(e) 846 248 1,749 846 1,749 

Total Revenue 51,396 45,768 48,729 51,396 48,729

Gain/(Loss) on disposal 4 74 - - 74 -

Other gains / (losses) 5 (52) - 115 (52) 115 

Net result (6,172) (2,993) (15,786) (6,172) (15,786)

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent 
periods

Net increase / (decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus

10,000 - 222,522 10,000 222,522 

Total other comprehensive income 10,000 - 222,522 10,000 222,522 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 3,828 (2,993) 206,736 3,828 206,736 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2019

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2019

$000

Budget
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - - 2,682 - 2,682

Receivables 7 4,450 2,213 1,636 4,450 1,636

Inventories 8 226 200 228 226 228

Financial assets at fair value 9 - - 55 - 55 

Total Current Assets 4,676 2,413 4,601 4,676 4,601

Non-Current Assets

Financial assets at fair value 9 3,784 3,756 3,691 3,784 3,691

Property, plant and equipment 11

Land and buildings 385,591 157,805 379,484 385,591 379,484

Plant and equipment 12,712 13,389 13,533 12,712 13,533

Collection Assets 313,054 314,468 312,198 313,054 312,198

Total Property, plant and equipment 711,357 485,662 705,215 711,357 705,215

Total Non-Current Assets 715,141 489,418 708,906 715,141 708,906

Total Assets 719,817 491,831 713,507 719,817 713,507

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 13 3,532 4,280 4,483 3,532 4,483

Borrowings 14 3,114 957 - 3,114 - 

Provisions 15 2,992 2,550 2,691 2,992 2,691

Total Current Liabilities 9,638 7,787 7,174 9,638 7,174

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 15                76 - 58 76 58

Total Non-Current Liabilities                76 - 58 76 58

Total Liabilities 9,714 7,787 7,232 9,714 7,232

Net Assets 710,103 484,044 706,275 710,103 706,275

EQUITY

Reserves 396,719 166,800 386,719 396,719 386,719

Accumulated funds 313,384 317,244 319,556 313,384 319,556

Total Equity 710,103 484,044 706,275 710,103 706,275

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes

Economic Entity Parent
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2018 319,556 386,719 706,275 319,556 386,719 706,275 

Net result for the year (6,172) - (6,172) (6,172) - (6,172)

Other comprehensive Income

Net change in revaluation surplus of property 
plant and equipment

- 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 10,000 

Total other comprehensive income - 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 10,000 

Total comprehensive income for the year (6,172) 10,000 3,828 (6,172) 10,000 3,828 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 313,384 396,719 710,103 313,384 396,719 710,103

Balance as at 1 July 2017 335,342 164,197 499,539 335,342 164,197 499,539

Net result for the year (15,786)  - (15,786) (15,786) - (15,786)

Other comprehensive Income

Net change in revaluation surplus of property 
plant and equipment

- 222,522 222,522 - 222,522 222,522 

Total other comprehensive income - 222,522 222,522 - 222,522 222,522 

Total comprehensive income for the year (15,786) 222,522 206,736 (15,786) 222,522 206,736 

Balance as at 30 June 2018 319,556 386,719 706,275 319,556 386,719 706,275

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes

Economic Entity Parent

Actual
2019

$000

Budget
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

Actual
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Personnel services - - - (30,003) (29,094)

Employee related (30,003) (25,646) (29,094) - - 

Other (16,916) (16,840) (15,495) (16,916) (15,495)

Total Payments (46,919) (42,486) (44,589) (46,919) (44,589)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 10,469 9,245 8,544 10,469 8,544 

Interest received 15 40 14 15 14 

Grants and contributions 33,151 32,732 32,523 33,151 32,523 

Other 1,089 2,648 3,803 1,089 3,803 

Total Receipts 44,724 44,665 44,884 44,724 44,884

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,195) 2,179 295 (2,195) 295

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment and Collection assets

(3,794) (3,999) (2,141) (3,794) (2,141)

Proceeds from sale of investments 74 - - 74 - 

Purchase of investments 119 - (961) 119 (961)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,601) (3,999) (3,102) (3,601) (3,102)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

(5,796) (1,820) (2,807) (5,796) (2,807)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 2,682 763 5,489 2,682 5,489 

Reclassification of cash equivalents - 100 - - -

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6 & 14 (3,114) (957) 2,682 (3,114) 2,682 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity and is controlled by the State of NSW, 

which is the ultimate parent. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash 
generating units.

 The Museum, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney 
Observatory, the Museums Discovery Centre, the Migration Heritage Centre and the Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising the 
parent entity), and the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency. 

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on  
24 February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum.

 In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and 
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated and like transactions and other events are 
accounted for using uniform accounting policies.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on  
30 September 2019.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with:

 • applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
 • the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and
 • the Financial Reporting Directions mandated by the Treasurer.

 Property, plant and equipment including collection assets, and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured at 
fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. Judgements, key 
assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
 The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for 

Government entities.  The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
 Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:

 • the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is 
recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense and

 • receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

 Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(f) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Comments regarding the 

accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

 (i) Sale of Goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods, usually on delivery of the goods.

 (ii) Rendering of Services
  Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours 

incurred to date).

 (iii) Investment and Other Revenue
  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

  Rental income from operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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  Royalty and copyright revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreement. 

  TCorp Hour Glass distributions and dividend revenue are recognised when the Museum’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

 (iv) Grants and Contributions
  Grants and contributions include donations, and grants from the Department of Planning and Environment. They are 

generally recognised as income when the Museum obtains control over the assets comprising the grants and contributions. 
Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

  Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised when and only when a fair value of 
those services can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

 (i) Acquisition of Assets
  Assets acquired are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire 
the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
measurement date.

  Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.

  Collection items acquired during the year are recorded at cost or valuation, for donated items, including a processing cost 
incurred in relation to the research and selection, transport, documentation and cataloguing, condition assessment and 
conservation treatment required to acquire items into the Museum’s collection, and are recognised as assets. Processing 
costs are dependent on the nature, size, availability in the market and knowledge of the history of the item and consist of 
staff salary and freight costs.

 (ii) Capitalisation thresholds
  Property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised.  Computer related assets costing 

individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also capitalised.

 (iii) Assets not able to be reliably measured
  The Museum holds a certain asset that has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position because the Museum 

is unable to measure reliably the value for that asset and that asset is likely to be material. This asset is the 1785 Boulton and 
Watt steam engine. The steam engine is one of the earliest rotative (wheel turning) steam engines to be built and is the 
oldest in existence. The engine is also one of the few in the world to work regularly under steam. The Boulton and Watt was 
excluded from the last valuation of the Museum’s Collection on the basis that its value was deemed by the independent 
valuers to be unable to be reliably measured due to its unique nature.

 (iv) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
  Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value” 

Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, 
and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

  Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, 
legally permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and 
take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by 
government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In 
limited circumstances, the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or 
where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

  Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques 
(market approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable 
inputs. Also refer Note 11 and Note 12 for further information regarding fair value.

  Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ 
materially from its fair value at reporting date. The Museum conducts a comprehensive revaluation at least every three years 
for its land and buildings where the market or income approach is the most appropriate valuation technique, and at least 
every five years for other classes of property plant and equipment. The most recent comprehensive valuations were in 
relation to land and buildings. Valuations for the Museum’s Castle Hill and Miller’s Point sites were completed on 31 January 
2018, and the valuation for the Ultimo site was completed on 31 May 2018 and updated via an interim formal revaluation in 
February 2019. The Museum’s Collection was last valued on 30 April 2015. All valuations were based on an independent 
assessment.
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  Any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset 
accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or 
decrements. Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation surplus 
in equity. However, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset 
previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.

  Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the 
revaluation surplus. As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a 
class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance 
remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

  The Museum mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as Museum buildings which are generally 
valued using the current replacement cost. However, if government policy indicates that a specialised asset is to be 
decommissioned and rezoned by Government Property NSW, a revaluation at market value will be obtained for the land and 
buildings (refer Note 12).

  If such specialised assets are not decommissioned by Government Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at 
current replacement cost, until a determination is made on the future of these assets.

 (v) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
  As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to 

arise. As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can only arise in the rare circumstances where 
the costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies 
the recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.

 (vi) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
  Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all depreciable assets so as to 

write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.

  All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their useful lives.

  Land is not a depreciable asset.  Certain heritage assets, such as the Museum’s collection items, may not have a limited 
useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to depreciation. 
The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.

  Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.

  Category: Depreciation Rate for 2018 and 2019:
  Buildings 2.00 – 14.30%
  Buildings — internal services and major components 4.00 – 50.00%
  Plant and equipment 3.33 – 50.00%
  Computer equipment 15.00 – 33.33%
  Motor Vehicles 10.00 – 20.00%
  Exhibitions 5.88 – 50.00%
  Collections 0.00 – 20.00%

 (vii) Restoration costs
  The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the 

cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

 (viii) Maintenance
  Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 

replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(h) Inventories
 Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service potential. A loss of service 

potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. 
Cost is calculated using the ‘first in first out’ method.

(i) Financial Instruments
 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 

of another entity.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in net result.

 The Museum determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities after initial recognition and, when allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial year end. 
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 (i) Financial assets
  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

  All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

  • Loans and receivables
   Trade receivables, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, 
derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

   Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

  • Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
   The Museum subsequently measures financial assets classified as ‘held-for-trading’ or designated upon initial 

recognition ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ at fair value. Gains or losses on these assets are recognised in the net 
result for the year. Financial assets are classified as ‘held-for-trading’ if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held-for-trading unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments under AASB 9 (Replaces AASB 139 in 2018–19).

   The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss as these financial assets are managed 
and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy, 
and information about these assets is provided internally on that basis to the Museum’s key management personnel.

   The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions received as well as 
unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ‘investment revenue’.

  • Impairment of financial assets
   All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to an annual review for 

impairment. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been 
affected.

   For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, the entity first assesses whether impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. Assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis if they were assessed not to be 
impaired individually.

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the net result for the year. Any reversals of impairment losses are 
reversed through the net result for the year. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
cannot result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an 
impairment loss.

 (ii) Financial Liabilities
  Financial liabilities are classified as either ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or ‘at amortised cost’.

  • Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

   Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 
term. Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognised in the net result.

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in the net result.

  • Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including borrowing and trade payables)
   Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. These are subsequently 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

   Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Museum and other amounts. Short-term payables 
with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

   Finance lease liabilities are determined in accordance with AASB 117.
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 (iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
  A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the 

entity transfers the financial asset:

  • where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or
  • where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained  control.

  Where the Museum has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the 
asset continues to be recognised to the extent of the Museum’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the 
Museum also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Museum has retained.

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

(j) Personnel services and other provisions

 Personnel Services Arrangements
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency is an Executive Agency wholly controlled by the Museum of Applied Arts 

and Sciences with the objective of providing personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 All payments to personnel and in relation to related obligations are made by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff 
Agency, and are classified as an ‘Employee Related’ cost on consolidation in these financial statements.

(k) Employee benefits

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, and sick leave
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 

months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.  The Museum has assessed the actuarial 
advice based on its circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual 
leave is classified as a current liability even where the Museum does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the 
Museum does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The 

Museum accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the 
non-monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.

  Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided 
up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using the Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employee’s salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they 

relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums 
and fringe benefits tax.

(l) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. 

 Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected.
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(m) Fair value hierarchy
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

 A number of the Museum’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure purposes, the 
valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows;

 • Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Museum can access at the 
measurement date.

 • Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
 • Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred. Refer Note 12 and Note 18 for further disclosures regarding fair value measurements of financial and non-
financial assets.

(n) Equity and Reserves

 (i) Revaluation Surplus
  The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords 

with the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1(g)(iv)).

 (ii) Accumulated Funds
  The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.

(o) Conditions on contributions
 The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is 

made.  These funds are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are received.

(p) Non-Monetary Assistance
 The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations and 

bequests to the collection and the provision of goods and services free of charge.  Non-Monetary contributions are recognised at 
their fair value.  Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated (refer Note 1(f)(iv)).

(q) Taxation Status
 The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift deductible 

recipient status.

(r) Trustees Benefits
 No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial period 

and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.

(s) Budgeted Amounts
 The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the 

reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (eg. Adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a 
result of Administrative Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. Major variances between the original 
budgeted amounts and the actual amounts disclosed in the financial statements are explained in Note 16.

(t) Comparative information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(u) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

 (i) Effective for the first time in 2018/19
  The accounting policies applied in 2018-19 are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as a result of the 

following new or revised Australian Accounting Standards that have been applied for the first time in 2018–19.

  The Museum has adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments (AASB 9), which resulted in changes in accounting policies in 
respect of recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. AASB 9 also significantly 
amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as the revised AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

  The Museum applied AASB 9 retrospectively but has not restated the comparative information which is reported under 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement (AASB 139). 

  There was no impact on the Museum’s statement of financial position as at 1 July 2018 as a result of adopting AASB 9.
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  a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments
   The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to the Museum. The 

Museum continued measuring at fair value, all financial assets previously held at fair value under AASB 139.

   The following are the changes in the classification of the Museum’s financial assets:

   • Trade receivables and other financial assets classified as ‘Loans and receivables’ under AASB 139 as at 30 June 
2018 are held to collect contractual cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. At 1 July 
2018, these are classified and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost.

   • Investments in TCorpIM Funds are managed on a fair value basis and hence were designated at fair value through 
profit or loss under AASB 139 as at 30 June 2018. Under AASB 9, these are now going forward to be classified and 
measured as fair value through profit or loss.

   • The Museum has not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. There are no changes in 
the classification and measurement for the entity’s financial liabilities.

  b) Impairment
   The adoption of AASB 9 has changed the Museum’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing 

AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires the 
Museum to recognise an allowance for ECL’s for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. There 
is no material impact to the Museum on adopting the new impairment model.

 (ii) Issued but not yet effective
  NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury 

determines otherwise.

  The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective as specified in 
NSWTC19-04. 

  • AASB 15, AASB 2014-5 , AASB2015-8 and AASB 2016-3 regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which are 
applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 for Not for Profit entities.

  • AASB 16 regarding Leases, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 1058 regarding Income for Not-for-profit entities, which is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2016-7 regarding the Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2016-8 regarding Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities, which is applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
  • AASB 2018-3 regarding Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced disclosure requirements
  • AASB 2018-8 regarding Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards-Right-of-Use Assets of Not-for-Profit 

Entities.

  The Museum has assessed the impact of these new standards and interpretations and considers the impact to be 
insignificant except for the following observations;

  • AASB 1058 dictates that volunteer services be accounted for as a revenue and expense. The Museum currently only 
makes note disclosure of the fair value of volunteer services.

  • AASB 1058 and AASB 2016-8 dictates that revenue received from a grant which generates a performance obligation 
shall be recognised as the performance obligation is met, rather than upon receipt of the grant funding.
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

(a) Personnel Services Expenses

Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) - - 24,447 25,487 

Voluntary Redundancy Program - - 779 432 

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans - - 330 337 

Superannuation — Defined contribution plans - - 2,013 2,101 

Long Service Leave and Oncosts - - 598 382 

Workers compensation insurance - - 321 170 

Payroll tax - - 1,430 1,365 

Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes - - 5 9 

- - 29,923 30,283 

(b) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave) 24,447 25,487 - - 

Voluntary Redundancy Program 779 432 - - 

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 330 337 - - 

Superannuation — Defined contribution plans 2,013 2,101 - - 

Long Service Leave and Oncosts 598 382 - - 

Workers compensation insurance 321 170 - - 

Payroll tax 1,430 1,365 - - 

Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes 5 9 - - 

29,923 30,283 - - 

Employee related expenses include  redundancy payments $779,000 (2018: $432,000), and MAAS Project salaries funded by the 
Department of Planning and Environment $2,127,000.  In addition, employee related expenses have been incurred on capital 
projects, including $204,000 (2018: $138,000) for processing costs in accessioning additions to the collection (refer notes 1(g)(i) 
and 11). Non-cash contributions of $851,000 (2018: $879,000) were also received.

(c) Other Operating Expenses

Advertising and publicity 3,315 2,777 3,315 2,777 

Auditor’s remuneration

– audit of Financial Statements 99 96 99 96 

– other audit fees 127 82 127 82 

Cleaning and laundry 955 1,005 955 1,005 

Computer software 836 531 836 531 

Consumables 361 1,169 361 1,169 

Exhibition fit-out 748 1,787 748 1,787 

Exhibition hire 2,742 499 2,742 499 

Fees — contract services 1,833 3,364 1,833 3,364 

Freight, cartage and handling 643 1,168 643 1,168 

Insurance 366 338 366 338 

Maintenance 1,512 1,128 1,512 1,128 

Operating lease rental payments — minimum lease payments 38 10 38 10 

Power and water supplies 2,123 1,929 2,123 1,929 

Printing and publications 259 443 259 443 

Travel and accommodation 135 299 135 299 

Other expenditure 2,646 2,045 2,646 2,045 

18,738 18,670 18,738 18,670 
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

Reconciliation — total maintenance

Maintenance expenses — contracted labour and other
(non-employee related), as above

1,512 1,128 1,512 1,128 

Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a) - - 444 420 

Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b) 444 420 - - 

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a), 2(b) & 2(c) 1,955 1,548 1,955 1,548

(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Buildings 4,688 12,740 4,688 12,740 

Plant & equipment 3,375 2,890 3,375 2,890 

Collections 7 15 7 15 

8,070 15,645 8,070 15,645

Depreciation charges are lower than the prior year due to the revaluation of the land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo site, on 
the basis of highest and best use, with a four year remaining life assigned to buildings.

(e) Other Expenses

MAAS Project Expenses (excluding Employee related) 859 32 859 32 

859 32 859 32 

Reconciliation — Total MAAS Project Expenses

Relocation expenses — as above 859 32 859 32 

Employee related relocation expenses 2,127 - 2,127 - 

2,986 32 2,986 32 

In addition, a further $1,207,000 was expended on the purchase of capital equipment in relation to preparing the Museum for the 
relocation. Employee related expenditure incurred in relation to the relocation project relates mainly to costs incurred in preparing 
the Museum’s Collection for relocation.

3. REVENUE

(a) Sale of goods and services

Sale of goods

Shops 1,603 790 1,603 790

Publications 18 50 18 50

1,621 840 1,621 840

Rendering of Services

Admissions 6,199 5,521 6,199 5,521

Members organisation 487 736 487 736

Leased operations 262 363 262 363

Venue hire and catering 1,754 1,464 1,754 1,464

Exhibition fees - - - - 

Fees for staff services 70 - 70 - 

8,772 8,084 8,772 8,084

10,393 8,924 10,393 8,924

Admissions revenue and shop sales increased in comparison to prior year due to the impact of the Star Wars: Identities exhibition.

(b) Investment Income

TCorp Hourglass investment facilities 210 127 210 127

Dividend income 15 13 15 13

225 140 225 140
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

(c) Grants and contributions

From NSW Department of Planning and Environment (DPE):

Recurrent Grants 29,364 28,555 29,364 28,555

Capital Grants 1,868 3,968 1,868 3,968

Total grants from Department of Planning and Environment 31,232 32,523 31,232 32,523

The recurrent grant for 2019 was comprised solely of the grant as per the State Budget for 2018/19. The recurrent grant for 2018 
also comprised solely of the grant as per the State Budget for 2017/18.

Capital grants of $1,868,000 are for 2019 minor works (2018: Capital grants of $3,968,000 included $2,368,000 for minor works 
plus $1,600,000 from the Department of Planning and Environment for critical maintenance at the Powerhouse Museum).

The Museum has unspent Capital Grants of $882,000 relating to minor capital works funding received during 2018/19.

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge by 
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency:

Superannuation — defined benefit - - 330 337 

Long service leave - - 455 366 

Payroll taxes - - 19 18 

- - 804 721

From other institutions and individuals:

Grants — Other 4,530 499 4,530 499 

Bequests 9 839 9 839 

Public Donations 69 190 69 190 

Industry donations and contributions 729 799 729 799 

Collection Donations — in kind 429 253 429 253 

Other Donations — in kind 2,130 2,092 2,130 2,092 

7,896 4,672 7,896 4,672 

39,128 37,195 39,932 37,916 

Grants — Other includes $4,193,000 in funds provided by DPE in relation to the MAAS Project.

(d) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other 
liabilities

Superannuation — defined benefit 330 337 - - 

Long service leave 455 366 - - 

Payroll tax 19 18 - - 

804 721 - - 

(e) Other revenue

Reimbursements from DPE for MAAS Project expenditure - 462 - 462 

Rental and Other income 846 1,287 846 1,287 

846 1,749 846 1,749

4. GAINS / (LOSSES) ON SALE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 74 - 74 - 

Written down value of assets disposed - - - - 

74 - 74 - 
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

5. OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES)

Realized Foreign Exchange gains/ (losses) from forward contracts (55) 91 (55) 91 

Increase/ (Decrease) in value of Shares 3 24 3 24 

(52) 115 (52) 115 

6. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand - 2,682 - 2,682

- 2,682 - 2,682

Refer to Note 14 Current / Non-Current Liabilities — Borrowings

7. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES

Sale of goods and services 548 905 548 905 

Less: Allowance for impairment (50) (34) (50) (34)

Other debtors 3,757 228 3,757 228 

Prepayments 195 537 195 537 

4,450 1,636 4,450 1,636 

Movement in the allowance for impairment:

Balance at 1 July 34 34 34 34 

Amounts written off during the year - - - - 

Receipts against prior impairment provisions  - - - - 

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss 16 - 16 - 

Balance at 30 June 50 34 50 34 

Increase in other debtor receivables relates to outstanding reimbursements in relation to MAAS Project expenditure.

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are 
disclosed in Note 18.

8. CURRENT ASSETS — INVENTORY

Held for resale

Finished goods at cost 226 228 226 228 

226 228 226 228 

9. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

Derivatives — Current - 55 - 55 

TCorp Hour-Glass investment facilities (Medium Term Growth) 3,476 3,386 3,476 3,386 

Shares 308 305 308 305 

3,784 3,746 3,784 3,746 

Refer to Note 18 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

10. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes.  They are made up of amounts 
that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest.

Restricted Bequests 2,005 1,930 2,005 1,930

Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000
Total
$000

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

At 1 July 2018 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 561,559 59,241 312,287 933,087 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (182,075) (45,708) (89) (227,872)

Net carrying amount 379,484 13,533 312,198 705,215 

At 30 June 2019 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 572,354 61,423 313,151 946,928 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (186,763) (48,711) (97) (235,571)

Net carrying amount 385,591 12,712 313,054 711,357 

Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at 
$429,000 (2018: $253,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation.  Further details regarding the 
fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 12.

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting 
period are set out below.

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Net carrying amount at start of year 379,484 13,533 312,198 705,215 

Transfers (Reallocation of WIP) 404 (404) - - 

Additions 391 2,958 863 4,212 

Disposals - (371) - (371)

Accum depreciation adjustment for disposal - 371 - 371 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement 10,000 - - 10,000 

Depreciation Expense (4,688) (3,375) (7) (8,070)

Net carrying amount at end of year 385,591 12,712 313,054 711,357

The useful lives of buildings and associated plant and equipment at the Museum’s Ultimo site had been reassessed effective from 1 
July 2015 as a consequence of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta, resulting in an additional annual depreciation charge of 
$9,077,000 being incurred for the financial years ending June 2016 to June 2018. 

The Premier’s April 2018 announcement of the final details of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta, resulted in management 
conducting a revaluation of the Ultimo site (refer Note 12), and reassessing the useful life of all assets associated with the Ultimo 
site, thus further impacting the annual depreciation charge. The reduction in the charge was due to the reduction of the useful life 
and subsequent value of the buildings on the Ultimo site due to the reassessment of highest and best use.
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Land and 
Buildings

$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Collection 
Assets

$000
Total
$000

2018 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

At 1 July 2017 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 304,912 55,947 311,598 672,457 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (133,638) (42,806) (73) (176,517)

Net carrying amount 171,274 13,141 311,525 495,940 

At 30 June 2018 — fair value

Gross carrying amount 561,559 59,241 312,287 933,087 

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment (182,075) (45,708) (89) (227,872)

Net carrying amount 379,484 13,533 312,198 705,215 

Reconciliation

Year ended 30 June 2018

Net carrying amount at start of year 171,274 13,141 311,525 495,940 

Transfers (Reallocation of WIP) (3,092) 3,092 - - 

Additions 1,520 190 688 2,398 

Disposals - - - - 

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement 222,522 - - 222,522 

Depreciation Expense (12,740) (2,890) (15) (15,645)

Net carrying amount at end of year 379,484 13,533 312,198 705,215

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total Fair
Value
$000

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Fair value hierachy

2019 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)

Land and Buildings - 345,737 39,854 385,591 

Collection Assets - 280,501 32,553 313,054 

- 626,238 72,407 698,645 

2018 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11)

Land and Buildings - 339,630 39,854 379,484 

Collection Assets - 280,501 31,697 312,198 

- 620,131 71,551 691,682 

(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes
 Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by 

independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated plant 
are valued using the depreciated cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books and furniture 
that have observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using the cost 
approach via a reproduction or recollection cost. Revaluations of land and buildings were conducted for the Museum’s Castle Hill 
and Miller’s Point sites on 31 January 2018. A revaluation for land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo site was conducted on 31 
May 2018 and revised in February 2019. The last revaluation of Collection assets was undertaken on 30 April 2015.
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 On 28 April 2018, the Premier formally announced final details of the relocation of the Powerhouse Museum, from Ultimo to 
Parramatta. Funding for the relocation project was subsequently included in the NSW Government State Budget for 2018/19. An 
aspect of the relocation project is the re-purposing of the Ultimo site. A final decision on the future use of the site is now expected 
by April 2020.

 Based upon Government’s decision to relocate the Powerhouse Museum, management considers that the existing use of the land 
and buildings at Ultimo, is no longer highest and best use. As a consequence, management engaged independent valuers to value 
the site on the basis of highest and best use, taking into consideration existing zoning and heritage restrictions, but removing the 
current restriction of the site being a museum.

 The valuation was predicated upon the Museum maintaining occupancy of the site until the 2021/22 financial year, with an 
appropriate discount factor applied. Management has also considered the ongoing use of the site over this period and adopted a 
value for buildings based upon a revised useful life of said buildings extinguishing by 30 June 2022.

 The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded as 
highly significant or of high value are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized 
samples to determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active 
markets to an absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on 
its value.

 

Land and
Buildings

$000

Collection
Assets

$000

Total
Recurring

Level 3
Fair Value

$000

(c) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements

2019 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)

Fair value as at July 2018 39,854 31,697 71,551 

Additions - 863 863 

Depreciation - (7) (7)

Fair value as at June 2019 39,854 32,553 72,407 

2018 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)

Fair value as at July 2017 39,854 31,024 70,878 

Additions - 688 688 

Depreciation - (15) (15)

Fair value as at June 2018 39,854 31,697 71,551 

Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

13. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 76 869 - - 

Accrued personnel services expenses - - 181 1,004 

Trade Creditors 1,547 702 1,547 702 

Accruals 1,192 2,059 1,087 1,924 

Income paid in advance 717 853 717 853 

3,532 4,483 3,532 4,483 

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs have reduced in 2019 as 2018 figures included $793,000 in remaining back-pay owing 
relating to an industrial relations matter, now paid in full.

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in  
Note 18.
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Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

14. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — BORROWINGS

Bank Overdraft 3,114 - 3,114 - 

3,114 - 3,114 - 

Details regarding market risk, including currency risk, are disclosed in Note 18.

15. CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Annual leave 1,833 1,775 - - 

Annual leave on-costs 194 163 - - 

Payroll tax on annual leave 100 92 - - 

Long service leave on-costs 606 464 - - 

Payroll tax on long service leave 334 255 - - 

3,067 2,749 - - 

Provisions for personnel services expenses

Annual leave - - 1,833 1,775 

Annual leave on-costs - - 194 163 

Payroll tax on annual leave - - 100 92 

Long service leave on-costs - - 606 464 

Payroll tax on long service leave - - 334 255 

- - 3,067 2,749 

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions — current 2,992 2,691 - - 

Provisions — non-current 75 58 - - 

Provisions — personnel services — current - - 2,992 2,691 

Provisions — personnel services — non-current - - 75 58 

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 13) 76 869 - - 

Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 13)                 -                 -            181         1,004 

3,143 3,618 3,248 3,753 

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $396,000 (2018: $362,000).

16. BUDGET REVIEW

 The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates 
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major 
variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures published in the NSW 
Government Budget Papers 2018-19. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of detail provides a more 
accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.

 Net Result
 The actual net result was lower than budget by $3,179,000. The following factors contributed to this result.

 Total Revenue was $5,628,000 higher than budget. Sales of goods and services was $1,149,000 higher than budget. Venue hire 
was $654,000 above budget mainly due to the Museum’s venue hire arrangements with the University of Technology, Sydney. The 
variation also included the impact of admission fees and merchandise sales relating to the Star Wars: Identities exhibition which 
ran from November 2018 to June 2019.
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 Grants and contributions was $3,896,000 higher than budget, mainly due to the reimbursement from the Department of Planning 
and Environment, and NSW Treasury, for expenditure incurred in relation to the MAAS Project ($4,193,000). This was offset by a 
reduction of $277,000 in the Museum’s recurrent grant subsequent to the release of the budget. Other revenue was higher than 
budget by $598,000 mainly due to the reimbursement from NSW Treasury, for expenditure incurred in relation to redundancies 
($610,000). Of the total expenditure incurred and reimbursed in relation to the MAAS Project, $1,207,000 was capitalised.

 Total Expenditure was $8,830,000 higher than budget. The main factor impacting expenditure was depreciation which was 
$2,023,00 over budget. This related to the useful life assessment of the buildings at Ultimo resulting from the revaluation of land 
and buildings conducted in June 2018, and subsequent to the finalisation of budget estimates.

 Employee related expenses was $3,248,00 higher than budget. This amount includes additional employee related expenses 
incurred in relation to the Museum’s relocation project of $2,127,000 and redundancy payments of $779,000.

 Other operating expenses were $2,700,000 higher than budget. Major variations against budget related to additional operational 
costs associated with supporting UTS venue hire arrangements. These costs were offset by increased UTS venue hire revenue 
referred to above.

 Assets and Liabilities
 Current assets are higher than budget due to an increase in receivables relating to the Museum’s relocation project. Non- Current 

assets are significantly higher than budget as a result of the revaluation of land and buildings conducted in June 2018, and the 
resultant changes to the valuation of the Ultimo site, after budget estimates were finalised. Current Liabilities are higher than 
budget due to a higher than anticipated bank overdraft, which is a consequence of the increase in receivables referred to above.

 Cash flows
 Net cash from operating activities is $4,374,000 lower than budget. The major factor relates to higher cash outflows relating to 

expenditure incurred in relation to the Museum’s relocation project. At 30 June the Museum had $3,524,000 in reimbursements 
owing from the Department of Planning and Environment in relation to expenditure incurred on the relocation project.

17. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT

Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

Net cash used on operating activities (2,195) 295 (2,195) 295 

Adjustments for items not involving cash

Depreciation (8,070) (15,645) (8,070) (15,645)

Donations to the collection 428 253 428 253 

Realised and unrealised gains & (losses) 90 128 90 128 

Impairment Allowance (16) - (16) - 

Decrease / (increase) in creditors 1,006 (1,394) 1,006 (1,394)

Decrease / (increase) in employee entitlements (320) 13 (320) 13 

Increase / (decrease) in receivables 3,172 365 3,172 365 

Increase / (decrease) in inventory (2) (36) (2) (36)

Increase / (decrease) in prepayments and other assets (342) 210 (342) 210 

Net gain / (loss) re investments 77 25 77 25 

Net Result (6,172) (15,786) (6,172) (15,786)

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Museum’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Museum’s 
operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

 The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting 
to the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.
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(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount

Parent

Carrying Amount

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

Cash and cash 
equivalents

6 N/A - 2,682 - 2,682

Receivables1 7 Amortised cost 498 871 498 871

Financial assets at fair 
value

9 At fair value through the profit 
and loss — designated upon 
initial recognition

3,784 3,746 3,784 3,746

Financial Liabilties Note Category

Economic Entity

Carrying Amount

Parent

Carrying Amount

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

Payables2 13 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

2,713 3,378 2,713 3,378 

Borrowings 14 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

        3,114                 -         3,114                 - 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2.  Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk 
 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Museum’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 

financial loss to the Museum. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the 
financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Museum, including cash and receivables. No collateral is held by the Museum. 
The Museum has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk associated with the Museum’s financial assets, other than 
receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards.  
 
Cash 
Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances with the Westpac Banking Corporation and deposits in TCorp Hour-Glass Cash 
Facilities. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the weekly average of the 30 day Bank Bill rate adjusted for a management 
fee to Westpac.

 Receivables — Trade debtors 
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and expected changes in 
economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms.

 The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based on past 
experience, debtors that are not past due (2019: $2,814,000, 2018: $477,000) and less than 60 days past due (2019: $1,107,000, 
2018: $258,000) are not considered impaired. Together these represent  96% of the total trade debtors. There are no debtors 
which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

 The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘sales of goods and services’ in the receivables category of the 
statement of financial position. 
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Total Past due but not impaired1,2 Considered Impaired

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

Economic
Entity
$000

Parent
$000

2019

< 3 months overdue 1114 1114 1114 1114 - -

3 months – 6 months overdue 6 6 6 6 - -

> 6 months overdue 138 138 88 88 50 50

2018

< 3 months overdue 160 160 160 160 - -

3 months – 6 months overdue 22 22 22 22 - -

> 6 months overdue 230 230 196 196 34 34

 Notes
 1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’
 2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are not past due 

and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum 

continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high 
quality liquid assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.

 During the current and prior years the Museum did not have any borrowings. The Museum’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small 
business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of correctly 
rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified 
time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other 
suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple 
interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2019 (2018: Nil).

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

Economic Entity
(including parent at same values)

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

2019

Payables n/a 2,713 - - 2,713 2,713 - -

2,713 - - 2,713 2,713 - -

2018

Payables n/a 3,378 - - 3,378 3,378 - -

3,378 - - 3,378 3,378 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.
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(d) Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement in the unit 
price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities. 

 The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for other 
price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment 
in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The 
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis as for 2018. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

 Other price risk — TCorp Hour-Glass facilities
 Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities, which are held 

for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the 
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Facility Investment Sectors Investment 
Horizon

2019
$000

2018
$000

Meduim-term growth facility Cash, money market instruments, 
Australian and international bonds, 
listed property and Australian shares

3 to 7 years 3,476 3,386 

 The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units on 
issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.

 NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to administer 
the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the performance 
and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off internal expertise to 
manage certain fixed income assets for the Hour-Glass facilities. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is 
outsourced to an external custodian.

 Investment in the Hour-Glass facilities limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with 
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.

 NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on 
profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) 
multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour-Glass Statement).

Other price risk — Tcorp Hour-Glass facilities

Economic Entity (including parent at same values) Impact on profit/loss

Facility Change in 
unit price

2019
$000

2018
$000

Hour-Glass Investment — Medium-term growth facility +/- 6% 209 203
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 Interest rate risk
 The Museum does not hold any interest bearing liabilities. The Museum does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments 

at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would 
not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. 
The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The 
Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

Carrying 
Amount

$000

-1% 1%

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

2019

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 

Receivables 498 - - - - 

Other financial assets 3,784 - - - - 

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2,713 - - - - 

Other financial liabilities 3,114 - - - -

2018

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,682 (27) (27) 27 27 

Receivables 871 - - - - 

Other financial assets 3,746 - - - - 

Financial Liabilities

Payables 3,378 - - - - 

Other financial liabilities - - - - - 

 Currency risk
 The Museum is currently exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The Museum 

hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The Museum uses 
forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the same dates as the 
contracted payments. Hedge accounting has not been applied.

 The following table details the forward foreign currency (FC) contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2019.

Outstanding  
Contracts

Average exchange  
rate

Foreign Currency Notional Value Gain/(Loss) on  
FX Contract

2019 2018
2019

FC000
2018

FC000
2019

$000
2018

$000
2019

$000
2018

$000

Buy US Dollars

< 3 months - 0.775 - 250 - 339                 - 17

3 to 6 months - 0.775 - 569 - 763                 - 38

                - 55

 At 30 June 2019, the aggregate amount of gains/(losses) under forward foreign exchange contracts totalled $Nil (2018: ($55,000)).

 The following table details the Museum’s sensitivity to a 10% strengthening or weakening in the Australian Dollar against the US 
Dollar if the Museum is exposed to a foreign currency exposure risk . 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. Note, there was nil risk for 2019, with the 10% rate quoted relating to the 2018 exposure only (see below).

Foreign Currency Exposure Change in 
AUD

Impact on profit/loss

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

US Dollars 10% - -100

-10% - 122
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(e) Fair value measurement

 (i) Fair value compared to carrying amount
  Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour-Glass facilities which are 

measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the 
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

 (ii) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position

2019
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

Financial assets at fair value

TCorp Hour Glass investment facilities - 3,476 - 3,476

Shares 308 - - 308

Foreign Exchange contracts - - - - 

308 3,476 - 3,784

2018
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

Financial assets at fair value

TCorp Hour Glass investment facilities - 3,386 - 3,386

Shares 305 - - 305

Foreign Exchange contracts 55 -   -   55

360 3,386 - 3,746

  The tables above include only financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in the statement of 
financial position. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the periods. The value of the Hour-Glass 
Investments is based on the Museum’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the market value. 
All of the Hour-Glass facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.

19. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to 
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below:  
 
Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c), 11 and 18).

20. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Economic Entity Parent

2019
$000

2018
$000

2019
$000

2018
$000

(a) Capital Commitments

Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various
building services projects at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 594 974 594 974 

Later than one year and not later than 5 years - - - - 

Total (including GST) 594 974 594 974 

The total commitments above include input tax credits of $54,000 (2018: $89,000) that are expected to be recovered from the 
Australian Taxation Office.

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating 
lease as at 30 June are, as follows:

Within one year 37 - 37 - 

Later than one year and not later than five years 125 - 125 - 

Total (including GST) 162 - 162 - 

The total commitments above relate to motor vehicle leases, and include input tax credits of $15,000.
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21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2018: Nil).

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Museum’s key management personnel compensation are as follows:

2019 Economic Entity (including parent at same values) 2019
$000

2018
$000

Short-term employee benefits:

Salaries 967 1,163

Termination benefits 230 165

Total remuneration 1,197 1,328

The aggregate value of material transactions, and related outstanding balances, that the Museum entered into, on arm’s length 
terms and conditions, with key management personnel, their close family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities 
thereof, are as follows;

Nature of Transaction

2019
$000

2018
$000

Transaction 
Value

Net  
receivable/ 

payable
Transaction 

Value

Net  
receivable/ 

payable

Services Received — in Kind - - 500 - 

 The above services are recorded as both a revenue and an expense in the Museum’s financial statements. Revenue is included 
under Other donations — in kind (refer note 3(c)), whilst expenditure is included under Advertising and publicity (refer note 2(c)).

 During the year, the entity entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled/jointly controlled/significantly 
influenced by the NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Museum’s rendering of 
services and receiving of services.

23. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

 NSW Treasury reviews agencies cash balances on an annual basis as a part of its cash management procedures. As a result of this 
review, and in discussion with Museum management, the Museum’s recurrent grant for 2019/20 was increased by $5,320,000 to 
resolve the Museum’s bank overdraft at 30 June 2019, and to provide the Museum with sufficient cash balances to support 
ongoing operations.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of 
the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 
2015, the Treasurer's Directions and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;

(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at  
30 June 2019 and the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;

(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover Lisa Havilah
President Chief Executive

Date: 30 September 2019

FINANCIAL REPORT
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Actual
2019

$000

Actual
2018

$000

EXPENSES

Salaries and Wages 22,917 24,007 

Redundancy Payments 779 432 

Annual Leave 1,910 1,761 

Long Service Leave 598 382 

Superannuation — Defined Contribution Plans 2,013 2,101 

Superannuation — Defined Benefits Plans 330 337 

Payroll Tax 1,422 1,365 

Fringe Benefits Tax 5 9 

Workers Compensation 321 170 

Total Expenses 30,295 30,564 

 

REVENUE

Personnel Services 29,491 29,843 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 804 721 

Total Revenue 30,295 30,564 

Net Result - - 

Other Comprehensive Income - - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2019

Notes
Actual

2019
$000

Actual
2018

$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Receivables 3 3,173 3,695

Total Current Assets 3,173 3,695

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 3 75 58

Total Non-Current Assets 75 58

Total Assets 3,248 3,753

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 4 181 1,004

Provisions 5 2,992 2,691

Total Current Liabilities 3,173 3,695

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 5 75 58

Total Non-Current Liabilities 75 58

Total Liabilities 3,248 3,753

Net Assets - --

EQUITY

Accumulated funds 6 - - 

Total Equity - - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes
Accumulated Funds

2019
$000

2018
$000

Balance at 30 June 2018               -                 -   

Net result for the period               -                 -   

Total other comprehensive income               -                 -   

Total comprehensive income for the period               -                 -   

Balance as at 30 June 2019               -                 -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes
Actual

2019
$000

Actual
2018

$000

Net cash flows from operating activities -   -   

Net cash flows from investing activities  -   -   

Net cash flows from financing activities -   -   

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -   -   

Opening cash and cash equivalents -   -   

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -   -   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity
 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on 24 

February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s 
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. The reporting entity is consolidated as 
part of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences.

 The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency commenced operations on 24 February 2014, when it assumed 
responsibility for the employees and employee related liabilities of the former employer, the Department of Trade and Investment, 
Regional Infrastructure and Services. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 24 February 2014 together with the offsetting 
receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.

 These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on 30 September 2019.

(b) Basis of Preparation
 The entity’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, and specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

 Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statement does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value (Refer Note 1(g) and 5).

 The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Management’s judgements, key 
assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that repayment of debts will be met as and 
when they fall due, without any intention or necessity to liquidate assets or otherwise winding up the operations. 

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance
 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 

Interpretations.

 The Museum has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective from the current annual reporting period. The impact to the 
Museum of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations was insignificant.

(d) Income Recognition
 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel services 

is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are recognised.

(e) Receivables
 A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value that 

can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are 
transferred.

 A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice amount 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

(f) Payables
 Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and workers’ compensation 

insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

 A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation 
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

(g) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs
  Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled 

wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured 
at the undiscounted amounts of the benefits.

  Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. As such it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted). Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed 
that the use of a nominal approach plus the annual leave on annual leave liability (using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual 
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The entity has accordingly adjusted annual 
leave balances to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability.

  Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES STAFF AGENCY: NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2019



57Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2018–19

 (ii) Long service leave and superannuation
  The entity’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The entity 

accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-
monetary revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities.

  Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 15/09) to employees with five or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. These factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value.

  The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State 
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation 
contributions.

 (iii) Consequential on-costs
  Consequential on-costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 

they relate have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance 
premiums and fringe benefit tax.

(h) Comparative Information
 Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of 

the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(i) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective
 The entity did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective. The entity has 

assessed the impact of all new standards and interpretations and considers that no standard that is significant to the entity has 
been published.
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2019
$000

2018
$000

2. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans 330 337 

Long service leave 455 366 

Payroll tax 18 18 

804 721 

3. RECEIVABLES

Current

Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 3,173 3,695 

3,173 3,695 

Non-current

Receivables from the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences 75 58 

75 58 

4. PAYABLES

Current

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 76 869 

Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax payable 105 135 

181 1,004 

5. CURRENT /  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS

Employee benefits and related on-costs

Annual leave         1,833 1,775 

Annual leave on-costs            194            163 

Payroll tax on annual leave            100              92 

Long service leave on-costs 606 464 

Payroll tax on long service leave 334 255 

3,067 2,749

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions — current 2,992 2,691 

Provisions — non current 75 58 

Accured salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 4) 76 869 

3,143 3,618 

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $396,000 (2018: $362,000).

6. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

 No capital, lease or other expenditure commitments existed at the balance sheet date (2018: Nil).

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Trust Is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date (2018: Nil).
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The entity’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the entity’s 
operations or are required to finance the entity’s operations. The entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

 The entity’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the entity’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements.

 The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the entity, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting to 
the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.

(a) Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets Note Category
Carrying Amount

2019
$000

2018
$000

Receivables1 3 Loans and Receivables (at amortised cost) 3,248 3,753

Financial Liabilties Note Category
Carrying Amount

2019
$000

2018
$000

Payables2 4 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 76 869 

 Notes
 1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
 2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit risk
 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 

financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

 Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity. No collateral is held by the entity. The entity has not granted any financial 
guarantees.

 Receivables
 As at 30 June 2019, the entity had debtors of $3,248,000 which represent personnel services receivable from the Trust.

(c) Liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The entity’s exposure to 

liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

 The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
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Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities

$000
Interest Rate Exposure

$000
Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective  
Int. Rate

Nominal 
Amount1

Fixed  
Interest  

Rate

Variable 
Interest  

Rate

Non-interest 
bearing < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

2019

Payables n/a 76 - - 76 76 - -

76 - - 76 76 - -

2018

Payables n/a 869 - - 869 869 - -

869 - - 869 869 - -

 Notes
 1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the 

statement of financial position.

(d) Market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The entity has no exposure to interest rate or foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

(e) Fair value measurement
 Financial instruments are recognised at cost, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial 

position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the financial instruments.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Trust met four times in 2018–19 and held several 
additional project governance meetings, in-person briefings 
and teleconferences as required to consider and advise on 
major procedural and policy matters related to the 
Powerhouse Program. 

The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 
comprised of the following: 

Professor Barney Glover AO, MSc, BSc(Hons),  
DipEd, MAICD 
Term: 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.20 
President (from 13.07.16) 
Professor Barney Glover has been a Trustee of the 
Museum since January 2015, and President since July 
2016. He is currently the Vice-Chancellor and President of 
Western Sydney University. Professor Glover is an 
accomplished academic leader and experienced Vice-
Chancellor. Previously Vice-Chancellor at Charles Darwin 
University from 2009 to 2013, he has a long record of 
success in university management and leadership, 
particularly in research, intellectual property management 
and major capital development projects. Professor Glover 
is currently a Board member for the Committee for 
Sydney and has significant business leadership credentials 
through membership on the boards of a range of 
corporate organisations and several state and national 
centres covering areas such as health and medical 
research, energy, mineral exploration and processing and 
telecommunications. Professor Glover holds a PhD in 
Applied Mathematics.
Meetings: eligible 4, attended 4, leave 0. 

Ms Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAICD 
Term: 01.01.14–31.12.16; 01.01.17–31.12.19 
Deputy President (from 04.11.15) 
Lisa Chung has been a Trustee of the Museum since 
January 2014 and has been Deputy President since 
November 2015. Lisa Chung is a Company Director with 
several years’ experience in sectors including commercial 
property and infrastructure, outdoor advertising and  
mass media, professional services, education and training, 
visual and creative arts and social and community 
services. Lisa is currently a Non-Executive Director of 
Australian Unity and Chairman of privately-owned Urbis 
Pty Ltd. She is also Chairman of the Front Project and a 
non-Executive Director of Artspace. Lisa was previously  
a non-Executive Director of APN Outdoor and the 
Australian Institute of Management and Chairman of the 
Benevolent Society. Lisa is a former Partner of Maddocks 
Lawyers and Blake Dawson.
Meetings: eligible 4, attended 3, leave 1.   

Dr Alex Birrell PhD, BVSc, MBA, AICD 
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19 
Dr Alex Birrell has 20 years’ experience in technology 
and is currently CEO of PAFtec, a manufacturer and 
global leader in advanced powered air purifying 
respirators. During her career, she has worked with 
Australian technology organisations such as CSIRO, CSL 
and ResMed. Before joining PAFtec, she was the Director 
of Commercialisation at ATP Innovations. Dr Birrell also 
previously worked for Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, one 
of Australia’s leading teaching hospitals, where she was 

responsible for research programs in renal and diabetic 
medicine. In 2010, she co-founded Heads Over Heels,  
an organisation supporting women CEOs of growth 
companies. Dr Birrell has a PhD in Medicine (University 
of Sydney), an MBA (University of NSW) and is a member 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Meetings: eligible 4, attended 2, leave 2. 

David Borger BE, MUD
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
David Borger is the Western Sydney Director of the Sydney 
Business Chamber. A role he has held since 2012. Prior  
to this, he served in the NSW Labor Government as the 
Minister for Roads, Minister assisting the Minister for 
Transport and Roads, Minister for Housing, as well as 
Minister for Western Sydney. David has previously held the 
office of Lord Mayor of Parramatta, where he served for 
three terms. David is currently a Director of Think Planners; 
and serves as a non-executive director on the boards of  
the Sydney Festival, Evolve Housing, and the Westmead 
Medical Research Foundation as well as a member of the 
advisory board of the Southern Cross Group.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 

Mr Robert Cameron AO, BEMin (Hons), MBA, GradDip 
Geoscience, FAusIMM, FAIM, FAICD 
Term: 11.01.12–31.12.14; 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.19 
Bob Cameron is the founder of Centennial Coal Company 
Limited and previous Chairman (Non-Executive Director) 
until 1 April 2017, as well as Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer until 30 June 2011. Bob’s other roles 
include Chairman of County International Limited, Pacific 
Smiles Group and Hunter Valley Training Company Limited. 
Bob is a member of the Deans Industrial Steering 
Committee and the Minerals and Energy Resources 
Engineering Industry Advisory Committee for the UNSW 
Faculty of Engineering
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0.  

Ms Paddy Carney, BSc(Hon), ACA, FCA
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
Paddy Carney is a chartered accountant and registered 
company auditor. She is a senior partner at PwC, a member 
of its Board of Partners in Australia and a member of the 
Global Board overseeing the PwC network internationally 
where she also chairs its Risk and Operations Committee. 
She has nearly 30 years’ financial experience with PwC in 
the UK and Australia across a broad range of clients with  
a focus on the retail and consumer sector. Paddy is also a 
director and audit committee chair for various not-for-profit 
organisations, a member of Chief Executive Women (CEW), 
and until recently was a director of PwC’s Indigenous 
Consulting Pty Ltd. She has a passion for the arts and is 
also a Director of the Sydney Festival and was a Trustee  
at Sydney Living Museums from 2013-2018.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 
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Ms Elizabeth Crouch AM B Ec FAICD 
Term: 01.01.16–31.12.18 
Elizabeth Crouch was NSW Chief Executive and 
Executive Director of the Housing Industry Association 
(HIA) from 1998 to 2007. Elizabeth served on the Council 
of Macquarie University from 2001 to 2018 and was 
awarded the title of Emeritus Deputy Chancellor of the 
University upon her retirement in June 2018. She served 
as Chair of RailCorp from 2009 to 2010 and from 2007  
to 2010 was the Chair of the NSW Public Transport 
Ticketing Corporation delivering the OPAL system to 
NSW. Elizabeth also serves on the Boards of the Western 
Sydney Local Health District, Health Infrastructure and 
the NSW Institute of Sport. She also Chairs the Boards  
of the Customer Owned Banking Association and SGS 
Economics and Planning and is a Non-Executive Director 
on ReadyTech Holdings.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 1, leave 1. 

Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM 
Term: 11.01.12–31.12.14; 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.20 
Tim Ebbeck has been a Trustee of the Museum since 
2013 and sits on the Museum’s Financial Audit and  
Risk Management Committee. Tim is a Chairman, 
Non-Executive Director, Board Advisor, Committee 
Chair, CEO and CFO with extensive experience across 
Technology, Media, Sport, Consulting and Finance 
industries. Tim is currently A/NZ CEO of Automation 
Anywhere Inc, and a Non-Executive Director at Nextgen 
Distribution. His previous Board roles have included  
IXUP Ltd, GeoOp Ltd, NVOI Ltd, Syndicate Chairman of 
the CEO Institute, CPA Australia, Member of Innovation 
Taskforce and Sustainable Growth Taskforce at the 
Business Council of Australia, Board advisor to My Wave 
Limited, Non-Executive Chairman for Insite Organisation 
Pty Ltd and Non-Executive Director for SkynetGlobal 
Limited (ASX). Tim has extensive executive experience  
as CEO of Oracle Australia New Zealand, Chief 
Commercial Officer of NBN Co and CEO of SAP 
Australia New Zealand. He is a former CFO, and 
Investment Director in the venture capital industry.
Meetings: eligible 4, attended 2, leave 2.  

Ms Kellie Hush, BCom
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
Kellie Hush is a fashion entrepreneur and former Editor- 
in-Chief of Harper’s BAZAAR Australia with more than  
20 years’ experience in the Australian and the international 
luxury fashion market. Before joining BAZAAR, Hush was 
the Editor-in-Chief of GRAZIA Australia and fashion editor 
of The Sydney Morning Herald. She is also a regular 
fashion commentator on television, radio, in print media 
and a published author. She is currently a Virgin Australia 
Melbourne Fashion Festival Board Director. Kellie is a 
founding director of the Australian Fashion Chamber and 
formerly a Royal Hospital for Women Foundation Board 
Director and judge for the International Woolmark Prize 
and the VAMFF National Designer Award.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 

Mr Darren Steinberg, BEc, FAICD, FRICS, FAPI 
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
Darren Steinberg is the CEO of Dexus and an Executive 
Director of Dexus Funds Management Limited. Darren  
has over 25 years’ experience in the property and funds 
management industry with an extensive background in 
office, industrial and retail property investment and 
development. He has a Bachelor of Economics from the 
University of Western Australia. Darren is a Director and 
former National President of the Property Council of 
Australia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and 
the Australian Property Institute. He is a founding member 
of Property Male Champions of Change.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 

Professor Salah Sukkarieh 
Term: 13.07.16–31.12.18 
Salah Sukkarieh is the Professor of Robotics and 
Intelligent Systems at the University of Sydney, and is  
the CEO of Agerris, a new Agtech startup company  
from the ACFR developing autonomous robotic solutions 
to improve agricultural productivity and environmental 
sustainability. He was the Director Research and 
Innovation at the Australian Centre for Field Robotics 
from 2007-2018, where he led the strategic research and 
industry engagement program in the world’s largest field 
robotics institute. Salah was awarded the NSW Science 
and Engineering Award for Excellence in Engineering 
and Information and Communications Technologies in 
2014, the 2017 CSIRO Eureka Prize for Leadership in 
Innovation and Science, and the 2019 NSW Australian  
of the Year nominee. 
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0. 

Mr Eddie Woo, BEd(Hon)
Term: 31.01.19–31.12.21
Eddie Woo teaches mathematics at Cherrybrook 
Technology High School and is the Leader of Mathematics 
Growth for the NSW Department of Education. He uploads 
his everyday classroom lessons to his Youtube channel, 
Wootube, which has more than 500,000 subscribers and 
over 27 million views. In 2018, he was named Australia’s 
Local Hero in the Australian of the Year Awards and listed 
as one of the Top 10 Teachers in the world by the Global 
Teacher Prize. He is the host of ABC’s children’s series 
Teenage Boss and his first book, Woo’s Wonderful World 
of Maths, is published by Pan Macmillan.
Meetings: eligible 2, attended 2, leave 0.
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Chief Executive  
(from 7.1.2019) 
Lisa Havilah 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Acting Director  
(from 05.08.18) and  
Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer 
Andrew Elliott B Comm (Accy), CPA, GIA (Cert), MAICD 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Programs and Engagement  
(until 8.03.2019) 
Tristan Sharp BA Dip.Ed MA 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions
Peter Denham BBA (Public Administration)  
MA (Cultural Leadership) 
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, Communications and External Affairs  
(from 6.11.2018)
Siobhan Rennie BA Comms (Hons)
 Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 

Director, New Museum Project  
(until 13.5.2019)
Michael Parry B Eng (Computer Systems)  
B ASc. (Computer Science)
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Exhibitions that were presented during the period  
1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 were:

POWERHOUSE MUSEUM 

Willoughby Bequest
10 March 2018 – 30 June 2020
Bequests have played a major part in the development of 
the Museum’s collection. The display celebrates the life 
and collecting passions of Barry Willoughby. A valued 
patron and friend of the Museum, in his will Willoughby 
left the Museum many objects and funds for acquisitions. 
The display reflected his passion for 20th century glass, 
including Australian studio glass of the 1980s, French art 
deco vases by René Lalique and examples of Italian, 
French and English modernism. 

The Ideal Home
8 June 2019 – 2 February 2020
The Ideal Home explores Australian experiences of home 
across the past 100 years, encompassing domestic 
architecture, design, and technology, alongside 
contemporary social issues which threaten the fabric of 
our intimate lives: domestic violence, homelessness, 
housing affordability and the notion of Australia as refuge. 
Artworks on display include The Seat of Love and Hate by 
eX De Medici; Karla Dickens’ series of appliqued 
straightjackets Bound; a piano donated to Martin Safe 
Place; and a large architectural model representing a 
streetscape of Ropes Crossing housing estate.

Reflections of Asia
7 July 2018 – 1 September 2019  
Reflections of Asia showcased the Museum’s extensive 
Asian collection developed over the past 140 years.  
The exhibition allowed visitors to explore the collection  
by material groupings: wood and lacquer work, ceramics, 
metalwork, dress and textiles, and contemporary art  
and fashion. Featuring key collectors, with select artworks 
on loan, it gave an insight into the many reflections of 
Asia, from a place of curiosities to an active agent in 
contemporary culture.

Spinning World
7 July 2018 – 28 January 2019
Spinning World was a multi-sensory project incorporating 
textiles, electronics and graphene. Visiting Research 
Fellows Dr Agnieszka Golda and Dr Jo Law investigated 
historical Japanese textiles from the Museum’s collection 
and created a new artwork that explores the relationship 
between art, emerging technologies and ecology.  
The elements of the installation enabled programmable 
sound, lights and movement that responded to visitors’ 
presence via sensors in the space.

PRINCIPAL OFFICERS  EXHIBITIONS 
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Human non Human
7 August 2018 – 20 January 2019
Art, science and speculation converged in Human non 
Human, an exhibition that asked questions about what 
makes us human.

Addressing four fundamental aspects of human 
experience: Food, Work, Sex and Belief, the exhibition 
responded to the impact of accelerating technology, 
connectivity and a rapidly changing environment with a 
series of immersive installations offering space in which to 
consider the past, present and possible futures of human 
and non-human relationships. Work by artists Dr Lindsay 
Kelley, Liam Young, María Fernanda Cardoso and Dr Ken 
Thaiday Snr with Jason Christopher were featured.

Fantastical Worlds
7 August 2018 – 20 June 2020
Fantastical Worlds reveals the creative brilliance behind 
contemporary and historical designs and highlights new 
acquisitions from four artists and designers: Timothy 
Horn, Alexander McQueen, Kate Rohde and Timorous 
Beasties. Inspired by objects from the Museum collection 
representing elaborate European art styles such as 
Baroque, Rococo and Empire, they imaginatively 
transform historical ideas and patterns into striking 
contemporary creations. 

Australian engineering icons
August 2018 – 30 June 2020
The Sydney Harbour Bridge and the Sydney Opera 
House are two of Australia’s most recognised and loved 
engineering projects. The bridge was constructed 
between 1923 and 1932; the Opera House was 
constructed between 1959 and 1973. Both projects 
stretched the engineering and construction techniques 
of the day and demonstrate extraordinary creativity and 
problem-solving skills. These images reveal differences 
in approaches to design, engineering and construction.

Tree of Life palampore
1 August 2018– 30 July 2019
The design of the Tree of Life palampore, or bed curtain,  
is symbolic of trade and cultural exchanges in the pre-
industrial era. The central tree of life motif is a hybrid form 
that draws on the artistic traditions of India, Europe, Persia 
and China. It featured prominently in Indian fabrics made 
for the European market, known in England as chintz.   

Good Design Awards 2018
22 September 2018 – 17 March 2019
Since 1992 the Museum has recognised excellence in design 
with its own award as part of Australia’s annual Good Design 
Awards, one of the longest-running international awards  
for design and innovation. The Museum’s Design Award is 
awarded to a project that demonstrates the important role 
of design in improving the quality of health, wellbeing or  
the environment. In 2018, Fashion Revolution Australia was 
selected as the winner.

STAR WARS™ Identities: The Exhibition
16 November 2018 – 10 June 2019
Created for visitors of all ages, the exhibition gave 
visitors the opportunity to explore their own identity and 
learn about the forces that shape them through a series 
of interactive stations. Each answer visitors gave defined 
a unique Star Wars character that they could create and 
meet at the end of the exhibition. Along the way, rare 
treasures from the Lucasfilm Ltd archives and original 
costumes, props, models and artworks were featured 
including BB-8, R2-D2, the Millennium Falcon, Yoda from 
Star Wars: The Empire Strikes Back™, Darth Vader’s suit 
from Star Wars: Return of the Jedi™. Visiting Australia 
for the first time, the exhibition was exclusive to the 
Powerhouse Museum.

Star Wars display
16 November 2018 – 3 November 2019
The Museum featured 50 objects from our Star Wars toy 
collection including the Millennium Falcon playset, the 
Death Star playset, and many original trilogy gems such 
as Jabba the Hut and Bobo Fett. The display tied  
in with the summer blockbuster offer STAR WARS™ 
Identities: The Exhibition.

Star Wars display
16 November 2018 – 3 September 2019
The display featured an interview, projected from an 
R2-D2 model, with a Star Wars fan and collector who has 
collected Star Wars toys since 1978. Three showcases 
displayed classic and rare toys from the collector’s 
personal collection, including the first 12 figures 
produced in 1977–78, two of the rarest Star Wars figures 
in the collecting universe, and original unopened figures 
from the 1980s.   

Powerhouse Design Archive display
1 November 2018 – 19 July 2019
Dahl Collings (1908–88) was part of a rising generation 
of talented women artists gaining recognition as 
professional designers. Her practice encompassed 
commercial art, graphic, textile and costume design, 
photography, film and painting.

Akira Isogawa
15 December 2018 – 30 June 2019
Known for his fusion of Asian tradition with Australian 
ease, Akira Isogawa is one of Australia’s most loved  
and celebrated designers. The exhibition was the first  
to explore his career of more than 25 years, revealing  
the background, impulses and cultural influences that 
have contributed to the making of a fashion original.

Akira Isogawa featured a wide range of garments and 
outfits, mostly drawn from Isogawa’s extensive archive,  
a selection of which he has generously donated to  
the Museum.
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Shape 2018 
A showcase of NSW HSC Technology Projects
23 February 2019 – 5 May 2019
Shape 2018 showcases a selection of outstanding major 
projects from the HSC Design and Technology, Industrial 
Technology, and Textiles and Design courses. As varied  
as they are creative, these projects provide a glimpse  
into the minds of tomorrow’s designers.

Spiral and The Mechanical Music Factory
1 March 2019 – 1 September 2019
Spiral by Dr Oliver Bown, Visiting Research Fellow 2018, 
in collaboration with the Tangents ensemble, was  
a musical composition and installation that explored  
the mechanical and performative nature of self-playing 
instruments. This project was inspired by the Museum’s 
collection of player pianos and piano roll production 
equipment from the Mastertouch Piano Roll Company. 
The work showed how artists are rethinking the 
experience of music through using contemporary music 
technologies. The work combines distributed physical 
and digital elements, synchronised via networks.

The project was supported by a Faculty Research Grant 
from the Faculty of Art & Design, University of New 
South Wales.

Architectural Commission 2019: Agora
1 March 2019 – 10 March 2019
Agora (Greek for gathering place) celebrates shared 
experiences and the act of meeting in a public space. 
Designed by Drew Penhale and Shane Winter in 
collaboration with Kieran Murnane, this classical 
arrangement of walls and colonnades created a 
contemporary agora within the city for the Sydney 
Design Festival.

Student Fashion 2019
30 March 2019 – 20 October 2019
Student Fashion is an annual display that provides a 
glimpse of the exciting potential of the next generation 
of Australian fashion designers. It showcases outfits from 
the final-year ranges of top students from four Sydney-
based fashion design schools: Fashion Design Studio, 
TAFE NSW, Ultimo Campus, Raffles College of Design 
and Commerce, University of Technology, Sydney and 
Whitehouse Institute of Design, Australia. 

Red Room Poetry Object
From 13 April 2019 – October 2019
Red Room Poetry Object is an annual poetry writing 
competition for young people and their teachers. It invites 
participants to think about the special objects in their lives 
and to explore ways they can capture their importance in 
their own words.

Apollo 11
29 June 2019 – 30 June 2020
With over 200 objects, Apollo 11 commemorates the  
50th anniversary of the Moon landing. Named after the 
spaceflight that was the first to land astronauts on the 
Moon’s surface in 1969, the exhibition explores this 
defining moment in history, its lasting impact on science, 
society and design, and the crucial role Australia played 
in transmitting the famous footage.

Key objects on display include items from the Museum’s 
extensive collection. In a new virtual reality experience, 
developed in partnership with UNSW’s iCinema and using 
innovative 3D modelling from the Smithsonian Institute, 
visitors can watch the Moon landing from the unique 
perspective of astronaut Michael Collins.

Luke Jerram’s Museum of the Moon
From 29 June 2019
Luke Jerram’s installation Museum of the Moon, which has 
toured internationally, combines detailed NASA imagery of 
the lunar surface, alongside moonlight and surround sound 
composition created by BAFTA and Ivor Novello award-
winning composer Dan Jones. Measuring seven metres in 
diameter, at an approximate scale of 1:500,000, each 
centimetre of the internally lit spherical sculpture represents 
5 km of the Moon’s surface.

SYDNEY OBSERVATORY 

2018 David Malin Awards: Winning Sky Photos
28 September 2018 – 29 January 2019
An annual display of spectacular, award-winning 
photographs of the night sky from the past year as judged 
by world-renowned astrophotographer Dr David Malin is 
exhibited at Sydney Observatory before embarking on a 
regional tour.

NATIONAL TOURING

David Malin Awards 2018: Winning Sky Photos 
Scienceworks, VIC 7 February 2019 – 11 July 2019
Jervis Bay Maritime Museum, NSW 5 August 2019 –  
3 November 2019

The Ideal Home (Penrith Regional Gallery)
1 March 2018 – 10 March 2019
The Ideal Home presented a history of the 20th century 
Australian home told through household objects, furniture 
and design classics from the Museum’s collection 
alongside contemporary social issues which threaten  
the fabric of our intimate lives: domestic violence, 
homelessness, housing affordability and the notion of 
Australia as refuge. The exhibition featured contemporary 
works across the site from Australian artists: Cope Street 
Collective: Mathew Cooper and Colin Kinchela, Karla 
Dickens, Victoria Garcia, Richard Goodwin, Blake Griffiths, 
eX de Medici, Catherine O’Donnell and Eliza Gosse.  
The Ideal Home was a partnership between the Museum 
and Penrith Regional Gallery and The Lewers Bequest.
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MAAS loaned 375 collection objects to 42 institutions  
in 52 individual loan arrangements in 2018-2019.  
The 52 institutions were:

Anzac Memorial Hyde Park, Sydney, NSW 
Art Gallery of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW
Arts Centre Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC
Australian Aviation Museum, Bankstown Inc,  
Bankstown, NSW
Australian Centre for the Moving Image, Melbourne, VIC
Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney, NSW
Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation 
(ANSTO), Lucas Heights, NSW 
Australian War Memorial, Canberra, ACT
Biennale of Sydney, Sydney, NSW
Broken Hill City Council, Broken Hill, NSW
City of Parramatta, Parramatta, NSW
Grainger Museum, Parkville, VIC
Hazelhurst Regional Gallery & Arts Centre, Gymea, NSW
Heide Museum of Modern Art, Bulleen, VIC
Meadowbank College of TAFE, Meadowbank, NSW
Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory,  
Darwin, NT
Museum of Australian Democracy at Old Parliament  
House, Canberra, ACT
Museum of Contemporary Art (MCA), Sydney, NSW
Museum Victoria, Melbourne, VIC
National Film and Sound Archive of Australia,  
Canberra, ACT
National Gallery of Victoria, Melbourne, VIC
National Museum of Australia, Acton, ACT
National Portrait Gallery, Parkes, ACT
National Art School, Darlinghurst, NSW 
Newcastle Museum, Newcastle, NSW
Old Treasury Building Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC
Penrith Regional Gallery & The Lewers Bequest,  
Penrith, NSW
Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney, NSW
Royal Flying Doctor Service (South Eastern Section),  
Broken Hill, NSW
Sancta Sophia College, Sydney, NSW
State Library of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW
Sydney Festival, Sydney, NSW
Sydney Living Museums, Sydney, NSW
Sydney Tramway Museum, Loftus, NSW
TAFE NSW Western Institute, Broken Hill, NSW
The Dowse Art Museum, Wellington, New Zealand
The National Trust of Australia (NSW), Sydney, NSW 
The Sheep’s Back, Naracoorte, SA 
TradeCoast Central, Eagle Farm, QLD
Transport Heritage NSW Ltd, Eveleigh, NSW
Tumbarumba Historical Society Museum,  
Tumbarumba, NSW
UNSW Galleries, Paddington, NSW

A total of 71 new Acquisitions comprising 223 objects were 
added to the Museum’s collection throughout 2018–19.

Character toy, ‘Buzz Lightyear’, plastic, designed by John 
Lasseter, Pixar Animation Studios, Emeryville, California, 
USA, c. 1995, made by Thinkway Toys, Canada / China, 
2000-2006. Gift of Jack Baylis-Jones, 2018. 2018/80/1

Posters (3), ‘2006 FIFA World Cup Germany Art Posters’, 
colour offset lithographic prints on paper, various 
designers, produced in Germany, 2004–2006. Purchased 
2006. 2018/81/1

Debutante dress, petticoats, gloves, handkerchief and 
ceremonial trowel, womens, silk satin / rayon / cotton / 
lace / tulle / gauze / beading / electroplated silver, made 
by her Aunt, Molly Chapman, worn by Tamara Haines 
(Mrs Tamara Cox) for her debut at Marrickville Town Hall, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1956. Gift of Tamara 
Cox, 2018. 2018/82/1

Photograph album, card / paper / wood / lead, owned by 
Tamara Haines (Tamara Cox), Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1956. Gift of Tamara Cox, 2018. 2018/82/2

Didactic display of electrical components used in Sydney, 
New South Wales, 1898–1975, wood / Bakelite / plastic / 
glass / metal / paper, various makers, assembled by 
William Palmer, Wentworthville, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2008. Gift of William Palmer, 2018. 2018/83/1

Catalogue, ‘Part 1, Sections 1-50 / Catalogue of 
Photographs / held by Tyrrells. PTY. LTD. / 328 Pacific 
Highway / Crows Nest’, paper / metal, published by 
James R. Tyrrell, Tyrrells Pty Ltd, Tyrrell’s Bookshop, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1917. Gift of 
Graeme K Andrews OAM, 2018. 2018/84/1

Uniform, Usher of the Black Rod, fabric / leather / metal, 
used by the officer in the New South Wales Legislative 
Council, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1966–71. 
Gift of Leslie A. Jeckeln, 2018. 2018/85/1

Logo sign, Carinia Records, metal, designed and made for 
Carinia Records, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1952–88. Gift of Natalia Rokita, 2018. 2018/86/1

Photographs (3), paper, photographs by Michael and 
Nathalie Kulakowski of Carinia Records, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1975–88. Gift of Natalia Rokita, 
2018. 2018/86/2

Certificates (2), metal / paper / glass, presented to Carinia 
Records, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1966-1967. 
Gift of Natalia Rokita, 2018. 2018/86/3

Vinyl records, 7 inch singles with covers (2), 78 rpm (14), 
Long Playing with covers (3), Record cover (1), paper / 
vinyl, designed and made by Carinia Records, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1952–88. Gift of Natalia 
Rokita, 2018. 2018/86/4

Company ephemera (15), metal / paper / vinyl / glass, 
various makers, designed and made for Carinia Records, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1952–88. Gift of 
Natalia Rokita, 2018. 2018/86/5

T-shirt, ‘Quilt Project Sydney’, fabric, designed by Philip 
Diment, made for the Sydney Quilt Project, Australia, 
1989-1990. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/1

LOANS ACQUISITIONS
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Video documentation of the Australian AIDS Memorial 
Quilts and Sydney Quilt Project, consisting of VHS 
cassettes (44) and a 1-inch video reel, plastic / magnetic 
tape / cardboard, various makers, Australia / United 
States of America, c. 1987 – c. 1996. Gift of Philip Diment, 
2018. 2018/87/2

Audio documentation of the Australian AIDS Memorial 
Quilts and Sydney Quilt Project, consisting of audio 
cassettes (40) and reel-to-reel audio tapes (2), plastic / 
paper / metal, various makers, Australia, 1989-1990. Gift 
of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/3

Digital documentation of the Australian AIDS Memorial 
Quilts and Sydney Quilt Project, consisting of 3 1/2-inch 
floppy disks (68), plastic / paper / metal, various makers, 
Australia, c. 1989–94. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 
2018/87/4

Banners (6), fabric / paint, made for the Australian AIDS 
Memorial Quilt and Sydney Quilt Projects, c. 1988–2002. 
Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/5

Photograph albums (16), Australian AIDS Memorial Quilt 
and Sydney Quilt Projects, plastic / paper, various makers, 
c. 1988–99. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/6

Badges (10), plastic / metal / paper, made for the 
Australian AIDS Memorial Quilt and Sydney Quilt Projects, 
Australia, 1988–94. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/7

Awards (5), trophies and framed awards, acrylic / metal / 
glass / wood / paper, presented to the Australian AIDS 
Memorial Quilt Project, Australia, 1989–1995. Gift of Philip 
Diment, 2018. 2018/87/8

Posters (6) and leaflets (8), paper, made for the Australian 
AIDS Memorial Quilt and Sydney Quilt Projects, Australia, 
c. 1988–99. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/9

Ephemera related to the running of the Sydney Quilt 
Project (62), plastic / metal / glass / wood / paper, made for 
Australian AIDS Memorial Quilts and Sydney Quilt Project, 
Australia,1989–1990. Gift of Philip Diment, 2018. 2018/87/10

Wedding dress, silk, designed by Alex Perry, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, worn by Tara Moss for her 
marriage to Berndt Sellheim at Margaret River, Western 
Australia, 2009. Purchased with funds from the MAAS 
Foundation, 2018. 2018/88/1

Aviation transponder, ‘Bendix/King’ KT 76A, metal / 
electronics, made by Allied Corporation, United States of 
America, used by Dick Smith AC in his Australian record-
setting balloon flights, 1993 and 2000. Gift of Dick Smith 
AC, 2018. 2018/89/1

Stamps, (4) ‘Special First Day edition of Australian Postage 
Stamps, The Dreaming’, paper / plastic, artwork designed 
by Aboriginal Nations Animation Studio Sydney, issued by 
Australia Post, Australia, 1997. Purchased 1997. 2018/90/1

Puzzle and packaging, ‘Rubik’s Cube’, plastic, designed by 
Erno Rubik, Budapest, Hungary, made by Ideal Leisure P/L 
Australia, Taiwan, 1980s. Purchased 2009. 2018/91/1

Book, ‘Mastering Rubik’s Cube: the solution to the  
20th century’s most amazing puzzle...’, paper, written by 
Don Taylor, published by Book Marketing Australia P/L, 
Richmond, Victoria, Australia, 1981. Purchased 2009. 
2018/91/2

Doll and packaging, Michael Jackson Superstar of the 80s, 
plastic / paper, made by LJN, New York, United States of 
America / China, c. 1984. Purchased 2009. 2018/91/3

Doll and packaging, Boy George The Original Outrageous 
Boy of Rock, plastic / paper, made by LJN, New York, 
United States of America / China, c. 1984. Purchased 
2009. 2018/91/4

Torricellian barometer and display case, brass  / wood / glass 
/ mercury, made by Negretti & Zambra, London, England, 
possibly 1920-1950. Gift of Patrick James, 2018. 2018/92/1

Model trains, (4), Sydney suburban electric 4-car set, part 
of operating garden railway, scale 1/2 inch to the foot, steel 
/ brass / aluminium / copper wire / wood, designed, made 
and used by Roderick Macdonald, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1950–12. Gift of Judith Macdonald, in 
memory of her husband Roderick Macdonald, 2018. 
2018/93/1

Breastplate (gorget), ‘Abraham - King - Dist of Brisbane 
Waters’, brass, Brisbane Water, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1820–1850. Gift of the family of the late John 
Charles Every Pym, 2018. 2018/94/1

Sneakers, mens, ‘Loop’, polyamide / elastane, designed  
by Stella McCartney, England, made by Stella McCartney, 
Italy, 2018. Purchased with funds from the MAAS 
Foundation, 2018. 2018/95/1

Bag, ‘Falabella Shaggy Deer Fold Over Tote’, polyester / 
recycled plastic bottles, designed and made by Stella 
McCartney, made in Italy, 2018. Purchased with funds from 
the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2018/95/2

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production  
of ‘Grand’, silk organza / elastane / metal enclosures, 
designed by Akira Isogawa for the Sydney Dance Company, 
worn by Rani Lutherr, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
2005. Gift of Sydney Dance Company, 2018. 2018/96/1

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production of 
‘Grand’, silk / organza, designed by Akira Isogawa for the 
Sydney Dance Company, worn by Katherine Arnold-Lindley, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney 
Dance Company, 2018. 2018/96/2

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production  
of ‘Grand’, hand-painted silk georgette, designed by  
Akira Isogawa for the Sydney Dance Company, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance 
Company, 2018. 2018/96/3

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production  
of ‘Grand’, silk chiffon, designed by Akira Isogawa for the 
Sydney Dance Company, worn by Andrea Briody, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance 
Company, 2018. 2018/96/4

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production  
of ‘Grand’, hand-painted silk georgette / elastane, designed 
by Akira Isogawa for the Sydney Dance Company, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance 
Company, 2018. 2018/96/5

Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production  
of ‘Grand’, silk georgette / elastane, designed by Akira 
Isogawa for the Sydney Dance Company, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance 
Company, 2018. 2018/96/6
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Performance costume for Graeme Murphy’s production of 
‘Grand’, silk georgette, designed by Akira Isogawa for the 
Sydney Dance Company, worn by Alexa Heckmann, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance 
Company, 2018. 2018/96/7

Performance costume (5), for Graeme Murphy’s production 
of ‘Salome’, screen-printed elastane / elastic / metal, 
designed by Akira Isogawa for the Sydney Dance Company, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1998. Gift of Sydney 
Dance Company, 2018. 2018/96/8

Performance costume for the character of Joseph Brown in 
Graeme Murphy’s production of ‘Salome’, cotton / cotton 
tape / dye, designed by Akira Isogawa for the Sydney 
Dance Company, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1998. Gift of Sydney Dance Company, 2018. 2018/96/9

Performance costume, Graeme Murphy’s production of 
‘Grand’, silk organza, designed by Akira Isogawa for the 
Sydney Dance Company, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2005. Gift of Sydney Dance Company, 2018. 
2018/96/10

Metters ‘Regal’ domestic slow combustion heating stove, 
metal /enamel / fire brick, made by Metters Limited, 
Australia, 1930–40. Gift of Anonymous Donor, 2018. 
2018/97/1

‘Ideal’ domestic slow combustion hot water boiler, iron / 
enamel, made by the National Radiator Co, England, 
1922–35. Gift of Anonymous Donor, 2018. 2018/97/2

Integra Chair, factory test example, plastic, designed and 
made by Sebel, Australia, 2001. Gift of Sean Lewis, 2018. 
2018/98/1

Numerical control (NC) system. ‘Mark Century 7500 Series’, 
mixed materials, designed and made by General Electric 
(GE), United States of America, 1970–72. Gift of Roger 
Bonnet, 2018. 2018/99/1

Piano, ‘Mignon’, wood / metal / plastic, made by Nicholson 
and Co, Limited, United States of America, c. 1950, used by 
people living at the Martin Place safe space, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 2016–17. Gift of Lanz Priestley, on 
behalf of the people who lived at the Martin Place safe 
space, 2018. 2018/100/1

Tent, Timberline Hike Dome 3, metal / plastic / nylon, 
made by Northpole Ltd, China, c. 2010, used by people 
living at the Martin Place safe space, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 2016–17. Gift of Lanz Priestley, on behalf 
of the people who lived at the Martin Place safe space, 
2018. 2018/100/2

Teapot, with lid, glazed hand-painted stoneware, designed 
and made by Eddie Puruntatameri, Tiwi Pottery, Bathurst 
Island, Northern Territory, Australia, 1975-1983. Gift of 
Nigel Lendon, 2018. 2018/101/1

Poster, Jimmy Little ‘Messenger’, paper, made and used by 
Festival Mushroom Records, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1999. MAAS collection, 2018. 2018/102/1

Wedding dress with underslip, and coathanger, satin / 
lace, designed, made and worn by Marie Elizabeth Hamer, 
Balmain, New South Wales, Australia, 1941. Gift of Kerry 
Pinnell-Wickson OAM and Belinda Hewison-De Bari, 2018. 
2018/103/1

Dressing gown and slippers, women’s, satin / lace / 
leather, designed, made and worn by Marie Elizabeth 
Hamer, Balmain, New South Wales, Australia, 1941.  
Gift of Kerry Pinnell-Wickson OAM and Belinda 
Hewison-De Bari, 2018. 2018/103/2

Wedding invitation and acceptance card, paper,  
Balmain, New South Wales, Australia, 1941. Gift of Kerry 
Pinnell-Wickson OAM and Belinda Hewison-De Bari, 
2018. 2018/103/3

Wedding dress, lace / pearls / synthetic fabric, custom 
made in Australia, worn by Stamatoula Pavlakis  
(née Raissis) on the occasion of her marriage to George 
Pavlakis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1965.  
Gift of Mrs Stamatoula Pavlakis, 2018. 2018/104/1

Veil, tulle / lace, custom made in Australia, worn by 
Stamatoula Pavlakis (née Raissis) on the occasion of her 
marriage to George Pavlakis, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1965. Gift of Mrs Stamatoula Pavlakis, 2018. 
2018/104/2

Stefana with box, metal / plastic / synthetic material / 
wood, worn by Stamatoula Pavlakis (née Raissis) on the 
occasion of her marriage to George Pavlakis, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1965. Gift of Mrs 
Stamatoula Pavlakis, 2018. 2018/104/3

Tiara, metal / diamantés, worn by Stamatoula Pavlakis 
(née Raissis) on the occasion of her marriage to George 
Pavlakis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1965.  
Gift of Mrs Stamatoula Pavlakis, 2018. 2018/104/4

Carved alcove for bridal bed, wood / lacquer, China,  
19th century. Anonymous gift, 2018. 2018/105/1

Table screen, wood / mother-of-pearl, Shanghai, China, 
mid 1800s. Anonymous gift, 2018. 2018/105/2

Outfit, womens, ‘Waratah Plantation Trench’, consisting 
of dress and obi, silk taffeta / Japanese Obi fabric / 
leather, designed by Luke Sales and Anna Plunkett, 
Romance Was Born in collaboration with Jenny Kee, 
Australia, 2018, and earrings, plexi glass / brass, 
designed by Nikki Couppee, United States of America, 
2018, for the Step into Paradise ‘kinda couture’ Resort 
collection, Fall / Winter 2019. Purchased with funds from 
The Australian Fashion Fund, 2018. 2018/106/1

Outfit, womens, ‘Goddess Cocktail Gown’, consisting of 
dress, printed silk crepe de chine / silk georgette / 
ostrich feathers, designed by Luke Sales and Anna 
Plunkett in collaboration with Jenny Kee, Australia / 
Korea, 2018, and earrings, plexi glass / brass, designed 
by Nikki Couppee, United States of America, 2018, for 
the Step into Paradise ‘kinda Couture’ Resort collection, 
Fall/Winter 2019. Purchased with funds from The 
Australian Fashion Fund, 2018. 2018/106/2

Outfit, womens, ‘Black Opal’, consisting of dress, printed 
silk taffeta / sequins / vintage French Victorian lace / jet 
beading / original Jenny Kee silk georgette scarves, 
designed by Luke Sales and Anna Plunkett in collaboration 
with Jenny Kee, Australia, 2018, and earrings, plexi glass / 
brass, designed and made by Nikki Couppee, United States 
of America, 2018, for the Step into Paradise ‘kinda Couture’ 
Resort collection, Fall / Winter 2019. Purchased with funds 
from The Australian Fashion Fund, 2018. 2018/106/3
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Outfit, womens, ‘Flamingo Park Tribute’, consisting of 
jacket and shorts, silk taffeta / French Victorian lace /  
jet beading, designed by Luke Sales and Anna Plunkett 
of Romance Was Born in collaboration with Jenny Kee, 
Australia, 2018, and earrings, rhinestones, designed  
and made by Nikki Couppee, United States of America, 
2018, for Step into Paradise ‘kinda Couture’ Resort 
collection, Fall/Winter 2019. Gift of Romance Was Born, 
2018. 2018/107/1

Sculptural form, ‘Quiet Shifting, Pink and Green’, blown 
glass, designed and made by Clare Belfrage, Adelaide, 
South Australia, 2018. Purchased with funds from the  
Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2018. 2018/108/1

Sculptural form, ‘Quiet Shifting, Blue and Green’, blown 
glass, designed and made by Clare Belfrage, Adelaide, 
South Australia, 2019. Purchased with funds from the  
Barry Willoughby Bequest, 2018. 2018/108/2

Scale model (1:17) vehicle with track, print, and 
demonstration film, ‘Bishop Austrans’ automatic personal 
rapid transport system, plastic / metal, made by Bishop 
Austrans Ltd, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,  
1999–2000. Gift of the Bishop Family, 2018. 2018/109/1

Film costume, ‘The Institute of Isolation’, Edition of 1,  
textile / plastic, designed and made by Lucy McRae and  
the Royal Opera, worn by Lucy McRae, London, England, 
2016. Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 
2018. 2018/110/1

Film, ‘The Institute of Isolation’, edition of 4, digital /  
4 channel video, 9 minutes, made by Lucy McRae and  
Lotje Sodderland, London, England, 2016. Purchased with 
funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2018/110/2

VistaVision, 35mm 8 perforation motion picture camera, 
‘Rotavision Camera System’, and accessories, metal /  
glass / electronics / plastic, designed and made by Bruce 
McNaughton, Aranda Design Pty Ltd, Brighton, Victoria, 
Australia, 1995–1999. Gift of Bruce McNaughton, 2018. 
2019/1/1

T-shirt, ‘Young, Black and Deadly’, fabric, made for Yirra 
Yaakin Theatre Company, Subiaco, Western Australia, 
1995–1999. Gift of Yirra Yaakin Theatre Company, 2018. 
2019/2/1

Shirt, mens, viscose, designed and made by Comme des 
Garçons, Japan, c. 1998. Gift of John McPhee, 2018. 2019/3/1

Trousers, mens, rayon / viscose, designed and made by 
Comme des Garçons, Japan, c. 1988. Gift of John McPhee, 
2018. 2019/3/2

Jacket, mens, shirt-style, cotton, designed and made by 
Yohji Yamamoto, Japan, c. 2000. Gift of John McPhee, 2018. 
2019/3/3

Dolls (2), ‘Barbie and Ken wearing the 2015 Qantas uniforms’, 
plastic / textile, uniforms designed and made by Martin 
Grant, dolls made by Mattel Inc., Australia, 2015. Gift of 
Qantas Airways Limited, 2018. 2019/4/1

Monorail archive, paper / plastic / metal, collected by 
Wayne Ferguson, Darling Harbour, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1988-1992. Gift of Wayne Ferguson, 2019. 2019/5/1

Leotard, cotton lycra / metal / elastic, made by Bloch Ballet, 
Australia, worn by Roma Blair, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1959. Gift of Roma Blair, 2018. 2019/6/1

Wedding dress, lace / nylon / tulle / metal, designed by 
Monsieur Brian, Rushcutters Bay, New South Wales, 
Australia, 1962, worn by Roma Blair, 1962. Gift of Roma Blair, 
2018. 2019/6/2

Photographs (3) and book, ‘Roma: From Prison to Paradise’, 
biography of Roma Blair as told to Rachel Syers and Karin 
Cox, paper, photographers unknown, book published by 
New Holland Publishers, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2004. Gift of Roma Blair, 2018. 2019/6/3

Evening dress, womens, velvet / satin, made by Monsieur 
Brian, Rushcutters Bay, New South Wales, Australia, worn  
by Roma Blair, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1965. 
Gift of Roma Blair, 2018. 2019/6/4

Evening dress, silk satin / glass / metal, designed and made 
by Yves Saint Laurent, Paris, France, c. 1997. Purchased with 
funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/7/1

Menstrual cups (2), ‘Mooncup’, with carrier bags (2), and 
packaging, silicone / calico / card, designed and made by 
MoonCup Ltd, Brighton, England, 2002–18. Gift of 
Mooncup Ltd., 2019. 2019/8/1

Ceramic group, ‘Prevail’, porcelain, designed and made  
by Kirsten Coelho, Adelaide, South Australia, 2018. 
Purchased with funds from the Barry Willoughby Bequest, 
2019. 2019/9/1

Sofa, ‘The Seat of Love and Hate’, embroidered silk /  
gilded wood, designed by eX de Medici, photography  
and digitization by Rob Little, fabric digitally printed by  
Think + Positive, embroidered by Sharon Peoples, 
restoration and upholstery by Azzopardi and Hancock 
Upholsterers, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory / 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017–18. 
Commissioned by MAAS with support from the MAAS 
Foundation, 2018. 2019/10/1

Ammunition Tiles (9), marine ply / acrylic paint / brass, 
designed and made by eX de Medici, Canberra, Australian 
Capital Territory, Australia, 2018. Commissioned by MAAS 
with support from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2019/10/2

Textile length, ‘I Killed Her With My Club’, printed silk, 
designed by eX de Medici, photography and digitization  
by Rob Little, fabric digitally printed by Think + Positive, 
Canberra, Australian Capital Territory / Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 2017–18. Commissioned by MAAS with 
support from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 2019/10/3

Poster, ‘No War’, paper, signed by protestors David R 
Burgess and Will Saunders, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2003. Gift of Will Saunders, 2019. 2019/11/1

Textile panel, silk brocade, hand woven, Laos, c. 2007.  
Gift of Dr and Mrs Peter and Gwelma Stevens, 2019. 
2019/12/1

War rug, military imagery, knotted wool pile, hand-woven  
by a Baluchi weaver, Afghanistan, early 1980s. Gift of  
Cadrys Handwoven Rug Specialists, 2019. 2019/13/1

Runner, sculptured pile weave, cotton, handwoven in 
Kandahar, Afghanistan, 2010-2011. Gift of Cadrys 
Handwoven Rug Specialists, 2019. 2019/13/2
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Evening dress, womens, crepe wool / crepe de chine / 
beaded appliqué, maker unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1938. Gift of Lea Fay 
on behalf of her mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/1

Day dress and petticoat, womens, crepe / silk, maker 
unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1935. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her 
mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/2

Metallic checked dress, womens, possibly lurex, maker 
unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1935. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her 
mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/3

Bias cut dress, womens, silk crepe de Chine, maker 
unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1935. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her 
mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/4

Evening dress and slip, womens, lace / crepe, maker 
unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1935. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her 
mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/5

Day dress, womens, crepe de Chine / silk / silk taffeta, make 
unknown, worn by Mrs J A Wilson, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, c. 1930. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her 
mother, Hilda Marie Hart, 2019. 2019/14/6

Handbag, womens, wooden beads, maker unknown, 
possibly made in the United States of America or Europe, 
c.1935. Gift of Lea Fay on behalf of her mother, Hilda Marie 
Hart, 2019. 2019/14/7

Radio, Collins HF-220 High Frequency, electronics, made 
by Collins General Aviation Division, Avionics Group, 
Rockwell International, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, United States 
of America, c. 1982, used in Bell Jetranger III helicopters 
flown by Dick Smith AC from 1982. Gift of Dick Smith AC, 
2019. 2019/15/1

Autopilot for helicopter, comprising Vertical Reference 
Collins Type 332D-11A Serial No. 832, Computer 
Controller Collins Type APC-841 Serial No. 31 and Primary 
Servo Collins Type SVO-830 Serial No. 965, electronics, 
made by Collins General Aviation Division, Avionics 
Group, Rockwell International, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, United 
States of America, c. 1982, used in Bell Jetranger III 
helicopters flown by Dick Smith AC, from 1982. Gift of 
Dick Smith AC, 2019. 2019/15/2

Memorabilia, Apollo 11 Lunar Plaque replica, metal /  
paper / plastic, made by Lombardo Mint Inc., Canada,  
c. 1969. Gift of Robert Gillespie, 2019. 2019/16/1

Cufflinks (pair), Apollo 11, metal, probably made in the 
United States of America, c.1973. Gift of Robert Gillespie, 
2019. 2019/16/2

Portable hair dryer, ‘Lady Sunbeam Deluxe’, plastic / metal, 
made by Sunbeam Corporation Ltd, Australia, c. 1962–67. 
Gift of Robyn Short, 2002. 2019/17/1

Ensemble, womens, comprising top, skirt and underskirt, 
shellac on silk georgette / cotton grosgrain ties, vintage 
kimono silk lining / elastic, designed and made by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1994. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/1

Top, womens, silk georgette / silk (lining of Isogawa’s 
mother’s vintage kimono) / cotton tape / elastic tape, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Spring/Summer 1994. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/2

Top, womens, screen-printed silk georgette (based on 
Isogawa’s mother’s kimono), designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 1998. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/3

Dress, womens, raw silk / trimmed with stencil-printed silk 
with silk and metallic thread embroidery (Isogawa’s Aunt’s 
kimono) / silk habutai lining, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 1998. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/4

Dress, womens, nylon / metallic thread, designed and made 
by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Spring/Summer 1999. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/5

Dress, womens, cotton calico / glass beads / silk jacquard 
lining / cotton wadding, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 1998. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/6

Ensemble, womens, comprising top and skirt, raw silk, foiled 
linen panel, silk habutai lining, metal safety pins / cotton 
organdie, vintage silk jacquard kimono embroidered with 
metallic thread, hessian / designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/ Winter 2000. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/7

Dress, patchwork, womens, calico / silk/ screen-printed silk 
organza, glass beads, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Resort 2000. Donated through 
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/8

Ensemble, womens, comprising jacket and patchwork skirt, 
raw silk, silk lining / raw silk, wool, vintage kimono silk 
lining, leather, metal press studs, metal zipper / designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Autumn/Winter 2000. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/9

Ensemble, womens, comprising top, belt and wrap skirt, 
leather, cotton organide / leather, metal buckle / vintage silk 
jacquard kimono with stencil printing and silk thread 
embroidery, designed and made by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2000. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/10

Top, womens, leather / cotton, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Light and Night 
collection, Resort 2002. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/11
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Top, womens, silk organza, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2001. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/12

Ensemble, womens, comprising bustier with belt and 
applique skirt, leather / leather with meltal belt buckle / 
appliqued stencil-printed silk organza, glass beads / 
designed by Akira Isogawa, New South Wales, Australia, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Metamorphosis 
collection, Resort 2001. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/13

Ensemble, unisex, comprising hooded dress and over dress, 
cotton handpainted by Akira Isogawa / silk organza, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Resort 2018. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/14

Cape, womens, nylon / wooden sequins, designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, and beaded 
in India, Spring/Summer 2001. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/15

Bolero jacket, womens, leather, cotton and metallic thread 
machine embroidery / cotton tape / metal pres studs, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Autumn/Winter 2001. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/16

Ensemble, womens, comprising smocked jacket and skirt, 
with petticoat, wool, hand-stitched and smocked wth linen 
thread, vintage silk kimono lining / cotton tulle, silk organza 
facing and hem, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2002 / Photo 
Session collection, Resort 2003. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/17

Dress, womens, embroidered and sequinned raw silk/ nylon 
tulle / cotton / plastic sequins, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2003. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/18

Dress, womens, appliqued leather and suede / silk damask 
straps / cotton lining / metal zipper, designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 2003. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/19

Ensemble, unisex, comprising vest, top, obi belt and 
Hakama pants, Nishiwaki paper and cotton / nylon net, 
boiled plastic sequins /silk damask, metal thread 
embroidery, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, beaded in Bali, Indonesia, Resort 2017. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/20

Ensemble, womens, comprising cropped beaded jacket, 
beaded mustard tucked dress and peony printed leggings, 
wool flannel / glass beads / silk rayon / wool jersey / elastic, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Autumn/Winter 2014. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/21

Ensemble, womens, comprising customised Chesty Bonds 
singlet and skirt, cotton, synthetic net / cotton, linen blend, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Printemps-Été collection, Spring/Summer 2005. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/22

Dress, womens, cotton, metal zipper, designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Printemps-
Été collection, Spring/Summer 2005. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/23

Ensemble, womens, comprising singlet top and skirt, silk 
organza, stenciled silk organza, cotton embroidery, glass 
beads, cotton canvas trim / silk organza, metal zipper, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Printemps-Été collection, Spring/Summer 2005. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/24

Dress, womens, silk organza / chemical lace / silk habutai 
lining, designed and made by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, Printemps-Été collection, Spring/
Summer 2005. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/25

Fabric remnant, stencil-printed silk crepe from a vintage 
kimono, remnant from making the dress designed by Akira 
Isogawa and worn by supermodel Naomi Campbell on the 
front cover of Vogue Australia magazine in June 1997, Japan, 
1960s. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/26

Top, womens, cotton / silk / glass beads, made by Bonds, 
customised by Akira Isogawa, Spring/Summer 2005. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/27

Backpack, teddy bear, screen-printed cotton drill (based on 
vintage kimono) / cotton tape / metal buckles, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 
2003, Printemps-Ete 2003. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/28

Ensemble, womens, comprising customised Chesty Bonds 
singlet and handpainted skirt, cotton / silk organza / leather 
/ glass beads / metal zipper, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Printemps-Été 
collection, Spring/Summer 2005. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/29

Top, womens, cotton / acid-wash silk tulle / plastic sequins / 
glass beads, made by Bonds, customised by Akira Isogawa, 
hand-beaded in India, made in Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2005. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/30

Dress, womens, handpainted silk chiffon, digitally printed 
cotton straps, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, made in Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Autumn/Winter 2005. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/31



73Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2018–19

Ensemble, womens, comprising piano coat and ecru dress, 
wool flannel, digitally-printed cotton calico based on a 
collage by Christiane Lehmann / handpainted silk chiffon 
and organza, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2005. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/32

Origami trials, (8), newspaper, made by Takahiro Shirai for 
Akira Isogawa, Europe, 2004. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/33

Cape, womens, wool flannel, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 
2005. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/34

Artwork for textile based on a vintage kimono, 
photocopied paper on cardboard / wooden frame, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2010. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/35

Jacket, womens, plaited wool / wool thread embroidery / 
screen-printed Florence Broadhurst Phoenix print silk 
lining, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2006. Donated through 
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by 
Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/36

Ensemble, womens, comprising coat and dress, digitally 
printed and plaited silk rayon velvet, silk lining / digitally 
printed wool jersey, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2006. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/37

Box containing Ogura Hyakunin Isshu (poems used for the 
Japanese card game Uta-Karuta), used as design inspiration 
by Akira Isogawa, ink on cardboard, Japan, 1950s. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/38

Beaded brooches and rings, glass / cotton / metal, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, made in Bali, Indonesia, Autumn/Winter 2014. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/39

Ensemble, womens, comprising shawl and skirt with 
Florence Broadhurst Cloud print lining, digitally printed 
silk rayon velvet / screen-printed wool linen lining, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Autumn/Winter 2007. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/40

Wedding dress, linen with metallic and cotton thread 
embroidery / digitally printed silk georgette lining, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, embroidered in Suzhou, China, Autumn/Winter 
2006. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/41

Dress, womens, embroidered and pleated cotton / vintage 
silk jacquard kimono with stencil printing and silk thread 
embroidery, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, and embroidered in Suzhou, 
China, Autumn/ Winter 2006. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/42

Ensemble, womens, comprising jacket and dress, 
handpainted silk gauze / silk organza, handpainted silk 
organza, silk thread embroidery, metal zipper, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, and 
embroiered in Suzhou, China, Autumn/Winter 2006. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/43

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress with slip dress and 
matching bolero, silk gauze with appliqued silk organza / 
metallic thread / metal zipper, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 
2007. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/44

Dress, with slip, womens, appliqued handpainted silk 
organza / nylon tulle, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia and appliqued in Suzhou, 
China, Resort 2008. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/45

Folder, black and white marble effect ring bound lever arch 
file titled ‘Inspiration’, containing design sketches and fabric 
swatches designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio 
Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/46

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress and embroidered 
bodice, silk / vintage kimono silk / cotton, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 
2009. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/47

Ensemble, womens, comprising wedding dress and shrug, 
embroidered and spiral shibori stitched silk crepe de Chine 
/ silk and metallic thread embroidery / tulle, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 
2009. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/48

Shawl, womens, silk rayon velvet / digitally printed silk 
lining (based on vintage kimono), designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/
Winter 2010. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/49

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress, slip and reversible 
coat, digitally printed silk crepe and digitally printed wool 
crepe (based on vintage kimono), designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/
Winter 2010. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/50
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Drawing, (22), Costume sketches for Sydney Dance 
Company productions, ink on paper, designed and made 
by Akira Isogawa for his collaborations with Graeme 
Murphy AO for the Sydney Dance Company and the 
Australian Ballet, c.2004 - 2011. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/51

Ensemble, womens, comprising wedding dress and shawl, 
tucked silk organza, metal fastenings, designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 2010. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/52

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress and scarf, silk 
shibori / silk organza shibori, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 2012. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/53

Origami bag, screen-printed cotton drill based on vintage 
kimono / metal zipper, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 
2005. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/54

Calico toile and paper pattern for an origami bag, cotton 
calico / paper, ink, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney,  
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2005.  
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/55

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress, shrug, neckpiece, 
platform sandals (pair), petticoat skirt and hat, screen-
printed silk crepe de Chine (based on vintage kimono) 
with spiral shibori stitching, nylon tulle / screen-printed 
silk georgette (based on vintage kimono), silk gauze / 
wood, plastic beads, silk ground, grosgrain ribbon / 
machine-embroidered silk damask, leather, metal buckles, 
rubber / stencil-printed silk, metal, designed by Akira 
Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia / and 
beaded in Bali, Indonesia, with sandals made by Preston 
Zly, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, and hat made by 
Jonathan Howard Hatmaker, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Resort 2013. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/56

Ensemble, womens, comprising top, shawl, skirt, hat  
and platform sandals (pair), silk crepe de Chine shibori / 
silk organza shibori / smocked cotton / feathers, metal 
headband / satin, suede, metal buckles, rubber, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, sandals made by Preston Zly, Melbourne, 
Victoria, Australia, headpiece made by Jonathan Howard 
Hatmaker, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Resort 
2013. Donated through the Australian Government’s 
Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 
2018. 2019/18/57

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress and shrug, silk crepe 
de Chine shibori, grosgrain straps / vintage kimono silk 
shibori, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, Resort 2013. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/58

Wedding dress, womens, silk gauze with metallic and 
cotton thread embroidery / silk taffeta and silk organza 
linings, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, embroidered in Suzhou, China, Spring/
Summer 2015. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/59

Ensemble, womens, comprising reversible patchwork  
jacket and skirt, wool / devore velvet / jacquard silk lining, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Autumn/Winter 2016. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/60

Ensemble, womens, comprising vest and skirt, cotton / 
metal fastenings, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney,  
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2007.  
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/61

Dress, womens, silk georgette / batik wax resist dye, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Duality collection, Resort 2017. Donated through 
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by  
Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/62

Ensemble, womens, comprising dress, obi collar and 
Hakama trousers, silk cotton, batik / silk jacquard vintage 
obi / silk organza / designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney,  
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2017. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/63

Ensemble, womens, comprising tunic dress, skirt and 
vintage kimono, digitally printed cotton (based on vintage 
kimono), spiral shibori stitched / screen-printed silk 
(based on vintage kimono) / vintage handpainted silk 
crepe kimono (haori), designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, screenprinted in Kolkata, 
India, Resort 2018. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/64

Ensemble, womens, comprising Yukata top and skirt, 
stencil-printed cotton / yarn-dyed cotton / cotton poplin / 
cotton tape, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, Resort 2018. Donated through the 
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira 
Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/65

Ensemble, womens, comprising jacket and trousers made 
from Florence Broadhurst Chelsea print, screenprinted 
cotton voile, cotton and linen lining / screenprinted 
cotton and linen, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Resort 2006. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/66

Kimono, stencil-printed silk crepe, Japan, 1900-1950. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/67

Dress, womens, silk damask kimono lining, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Autumn/Winter 2002. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design  
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/68
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Dress, womens, silk damask kimono lining, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2008. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/69

Dress, womens, cotton voile / vintage silk obi straps, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Resort 2003. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/70

Ensemble, womens, comprising shrug and dress, digitally 
printed silk satin, raw silk, metal fastenings, designed by 
Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Spring/Summer 2009. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/71

Dress, womens, crushed silk organza / vintage stencil-
printed silk kimono, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 1998. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural 
Gifts Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 
2019/18/72

Dress, womens, vintage stencil-printed silk kimono, 
designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, 
Australia, Resort 2003, Printemps-Ete 2003. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts  
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/73

Dress, womens, raw silk / silk georgette / nylon tulle / 
wax-resist dye (batik), designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2015.  
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/74

Dress, womens, silk, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, Spring/Summer 2001. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program 
by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/75

Top, womens, cotton, silk organza, glass beads, designed 
by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Printemps-Ete collection, Spring/Summer 2005. Donated 
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/76

Shawl, womens, wool felt, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 2002. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/77

Vest, womens, angora wool, designed by Akira Isogawa, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Autumn/Winter 1999. 
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts 
Program by Akira Design Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/78

Shrug, womens, wool, wool and metallic thread 
embroidery, designed by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, embroidered in Suzhou, China, 
Autumn/Winter 2006. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/79

Coat, womens, mohair wool / silk organza lining, designed 
by Akira Isogawa, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
Autumn/Winter 2001. Donated through the Australian 
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Akira Design 
Studio Pty Ltd, 2018. 2019/18/80

Water jug, pressed anodised aluminium / powder-coated 
cast aluminium handle, designed and made by Robert 
Foster for Fink & Co, Queanbeyan, Australian Capital 
Territory, Australia, 2016. Gift of Cesar and Nina Cueva, 
2017. 2019/19/1

Robes (2), Chang pao, mens, silk / red fox fur / lamb fur, 
owned by Chung Wen Low, Shanghai, China, c. 1940s. Gift 
of Mr Gary K-C Low, 2019. 2019/20/1

Jacket, multi-functional trench coat originally designed 
for actor Dolph Lundgren for the motion picture ‘The 
Punisher’ (1989) and made as replica of the actor’s jacket, 
leather / metal, designed by Dr Jeremy Bailey, made by 
Kujo Leathers, Australia, 1989. Gift of Dr Jeremy Bailey, 
2019. 2019/21/1

Jacket, replica jacket originally designed for performer 
Michael Jackson for his ‘King of Pop’ world tour (1987), 
leather / metal, designed by Dr Jeremy Bailey, made by  
Kujo Leathers, Australia, 1987. Gift of Dr Jeremy Bailey,  
2019. 2019/21/2

Jacket, womens, leather, designed by Jean Paul Gaultier, 
France / Italy, worn by Lynn Sutherland, Australia, c. 1990. 
Gift of Lynn Sutherland, 2019. 2019/22/1

Jacket, ‘Dykes on Bikes’, leather / cotton / metal, customised 
and worn by Sam King, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
1996-2019. Gift of Sam King, 2019. 2019/23/1

Shoes, pair, leather, designed by Issey Miyake, Japan, 
1984-85. Gift of Val Horridge, 2019. 2019/24/1

Shoes, pair, with branded shoe box and tote bag, rubber / 
metal / cardboard, 2007 Fall Ready-to-wear ‘Curiosity’ 
collection, designed by Comme des Garçons, Japan, 2007. 
Gift of Val Horridge, 2019. 2019/24/2

Vehicle, monowheel, metal / plastic / rubber, designed  
and made by Oliver Boyett, Marrickville, New South Wales, 
Australia, 2016. Gift of Oliver Boyett, 2019. 2019/25/1

Lathe, Nuttall 6 1/2 inch all geared centre lathe ‘Model 
C’, with handbook and test chart, mixed materials,  
made by Nuttall Engineering Pty Ltd, Rosebery, Sydney, 
New South Wales, 1950. Gift of Peter Hayward, 2019. 
2019/26/1

Implantable temperature monitoring device / biosensor, 
‘Circadia 1.0’, mixed materials, designed and developed 
at Grindhouse Wetware, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 
United States of America, 2012–13, implanted into 
forearm of Tim Cannon from October 2013 until January 
2014. Gift of Livestock Labs, 2018. 2019/27/1

Implantable LED light and controller (2), ‘Northstar V1’, 
mixed materials, designed and developed at Grindhouse 
Wetware, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA, 2014-2015, 
implanted in Jes Waldrip and another unknown person  
from 2015-2016. Gift of Livestock Labs, 2018. 2019/27/2

Implantable biosensor, ‘Embedivet’, mixed materials, 
designed and made by Grindhouse Wetware / Livestock 
Labs, USA / Australia, 2017–18. Gift of Livestock Labs,  
2018. 2019/27/3

Photograph, ‘Central Java Borobudur’, black and white 
silver gelatin print, photographed by Hedda Morrison, 
Borobudur, Java, Indonesia, 1970–1985. Gift of Inside 
Indonesia, 2019. 2019/28/1
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Tea towel, ‘Housing is a local issue’, cotton / ink, made by 
Jan Mackay for the Marrickville Community Centre, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1987. Gift of Jan 
Mackay, 2019. 2019/29/1

Piña cloth, pineapple fibre / cotton, made in the 
Philippines, probably Luzon or the Cebu city area,  
1880–1930. Gift of Ruth Norton, 2019. 2019/30/1

Promotional material (18), ‘Hot-Tuna’, paper / cardboard / 
plastic / metal, designed by Hot Tuna Pty Ltd, Taree / 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1986–2000. Gift of 
Richard and Jo Meldrum, 2019. 2019/31/1

Neckpiece, ‘The Weave’, cotton, designed and made by 
Grace Lillian Lee, Cairns, Queensland, Australia, 2017. 
Purchased 2017. 2019/32/1

DNA collection kit, plastic / cardboard / paper, made by 
Ancestry, Lehi, Utah, United States of America, 2018. 
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2018. 
2019/33/1

Commemorative first day cover signed by Akiyama 
Toyohiro, Gennady Strekalov and Gennadi Manakov, 
paper, cancelled on 10 December 1990. MAAS Collection, 
2019. 2019/34/1

Boardshorts, linen / coconut / plastic, designed by  
Duke Kahanamoku, made by Branfleet, Hawaii, United 
States of America, owned by David Gale, Sydney, 
Australia, 1937–40. Gift of John Gale in memory of his 
brother David Gale, 2013. 2019/35/1

Shawl, jacquard woven, wool / silk, Europe, c. 1840.  
Gift of Mrs P.L. Binnie, 2002. 2019/36/1

Mechanical stage for microscope and box, metal / 
leather / velvet, made by C. Reichert, Vienna, Austria,  
c. 1910. MAAS Collection, 2019. 2019/37/1

Parts of support posts for a flagstaff, wood, used at Fort 
Phillip Signal Station. Sydney Observatory Collection,  
2019. 2019/38/1

Ensemble, boys, velvet / cotton / metal, made by 
Drinkwater’s, Liverpool, England and Charles Baker & Co, 
London, England, c. 1870-1900. Gift of Leo Schofield,  
2019. 2019/39/1

Jacket, womens, pleated polyester, designed by Issey 
Miyake, The Philippines, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1990–2015. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/1

Top, womens, polyester / silk / polyurethane, designed by 
Issey Miyake, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/2

Top, womens, polyester, designed by Issey Miyake, 
Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman 
AM, 2019. 2019/40/3

Skirt, womens, wool / polyester / polyurethane, designed  
by Issey Miyake, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/4

Trousers, womens, pleated polyester, designed by Issey 
Miyake, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New 
South Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman 
AM, 2019. 2019/40/5

Trousers, womens, polyester, designed by Issey Miyake, 
Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman AM, 
2019. 2019/40/6

Bolero, womens, mohair / nylon / acrylic / wool, designed 
by Issey Miyake, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/7

Cape jacket, wool / plastic / metal, designed by Yohji 
Yamamoto, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney,  
New South Wales, Australia, 1980s-2000s. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/8

Jacket, womens, cotton / polyester, designed by Comme 
des Garçons, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney,  
New South Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/9

Top, womens, wool, designed by Comme des Garçons, 
Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 1990-2015. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman AM, 
2019. 2019/40/10

Handbag, ‘132 5 series’, nylon / polyester / cowhide, 
designed by Issey Miyake, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, 
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2010–14. Gift of Dr 
Gene Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/11

Shoes, pair, womens, 2013 Fall Ready-to-wear collection, 
canvas / rubber / polyester / leather / synthetic leather / 
plastic / faux fur, designed by Y-3, China, owned by Gene 
Sherman, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2002-2014. 
Gift of Dr Gene Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/12

Top, womens, silk / polyester / acetate, designed by Yohji 
Yamamoto, Japan, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia, 1990-2014. Gift of Dr Gene 
Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/13

Jacket, womens, polyester, Fall 2009 Ready-to-Wear 
collection, designed by Comme des Garçons, Japan, 
2009, owned by Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South 
Wales, Australia, 2009-2018. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman 
AM, 2019. 2019/40/14

Skirt, womens, cotton, Fall 2009 Ready-to-Wear collection, 
designed by Comme des Garçons, Japan, 2009, owned by 
Gene Sherman, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 
2009-2018. Gift of Dr Gene Sherman AM, 2019. 2019/40/15
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The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is an 
Executive Agency of and principally funded by  
the NSW State Government.
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MAAS Media published three new publications throughout 
the year, focusing on the Museum’s collection, and 
collaborating with creative and academic authors, artists, 
designers and illustrators. All of the publications were 
developed and produced in-house. 

2019 Australasian Sky Guide
September 2018
Published annually, and written by astronomer and author 
Dr Nick Lomb, the 2019 guide contains monthly astronomy 
maps, viewing tips and highlights, the latest exciting 
celestial events and an updated Indigenous astronomy 
section. The publication is available as an eBook.

Time and Memory
October 2018 
‘Clocks count the hours, but we experience time like  
it’s a texture, sometimes thick, other times thin,  
sometimes folded, other times smooth and synchronous.’  
– Vanessa Berry

Museums are not only repositories of significant collections, 
they also act as memory devices. The Time and Memory 
publication explores the many ways in which the Museum’s 
collection reflects upon the concepts of time and memory 
and provides a lens through which we can see the world 
outside the immediate time frames of modern life. Featuring 
recollections and observations from talented Australian 
writers Samuel Wagan Watson and Vanessa Berry, as well as 
contributions from Museum authors, Time and Memory 
presents over 70 objects from the Museum’s collection of 
time-keeping, information storage and memorial objects.

Samuel and Vanessa’s collaborations on this project were 
made possible through support from the Copyright Agency 
Cultural Fund.

Akira Isogawa: Unfolding a Life in Fashion
December 2018
‘As a designer I want to make things that are emotionally  
or spiritually connected to people.’ – Akira Isogawa 
Akira Isogawa delves into the creative world of one of 
Australia’s best known and most loved fashion designers, 
exploring the background, inspirations, impulses and 
cultural references that have contributed to the making of  
a fashion original. With a foreword by Akira admirer, actor 
Cate Blanchett, and contributions from key collaborators, 
MAAS fashion curator Roger Leong, and Akira himself, the 
book was authored by fashion writer Georgina Safe, who 
has 20 years’ experience covering the Australian fashion 
industry and the international collections in Milan, Paris, 
New York and London. The book was co-published with 
Thames & Hudson.

MAAS Magazine
December 2018 and June 2019
The summer and winter issues of MAAS Magazine were 
produced in-house with contributions from external 
collaborators, including guest curators, authors and 
program producers, and staff across the Museum.  
MAAS Magazine is distributed to Members and other 
Museum stakeholders.
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FTE at June 30 2016 2017 2018 2019 Difference
Directorate

Executive Support 3 4.8 4.4 2 2.4
Infrastructure Engagement 0.8 0 0 0 0
Directors 5 5 4 3 1
Total 8.8 9.8 8.4 5 -1.4

Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions
Curatorial 22.4 20.6 20.8 23 2.2
Library Services 4 4 4 4 0
Strategic Collections 3 2 2 2 0
Indigenous Engagement & Strategy 0 0 2 2 0
Exhibitions 8.6 9.6 11 12 1
Workshop 5 4 4 5 1
Registration 17.2 19.8 15.4 13 -2.4
Conservation 16.6 15.6 15.8 17 1.2
Production 1 1 1 2 1
Editorial & Publishing 4 5 4.6 4.8 0.2
Total 81.8 81.6 80.6 84.8 4.2

Corporate Resources
Human Resources 5 4 4 5 1
Governance, Planning and Reporting 3.8 3 3 2 -1
Finance 12.6 11.4 11.2 11.2 0
Property Services 4 5 4 0 -4
Mechanical Services 4 1 0 0 0
Facilities and Asset Management 3 4 3 7 4
Security Operations 5 5 5 6 1
Records 2 2 2 2 0
Volunteer Programs 2.5 2.5 2.4 2.4 0
Commercial 1 1 0
Events 5.6 4.6 -1
Information and Communications Technology 6.6 5 -1.6
Total 41.9 37.9 47.8 46.2 -1.6

Communications & External Affairs
Communications 3.8 5.6 5.6 5 -0.6
Development 4 5.2 3.2 4 0.8
Research and Analysis 1 0 0 0 0
Commercial 1 1 0 0 0
Government Relations and External Affairs 1 0 0 0 0
Memberships Program 0.8 1.8 2.8 1.8 -1
Events 4.6 4.6 0 0 0
Shop 1 1 1 0
Total 16.2 19.2 12.6 11.8 -0.8

Programs & Engagement
Sydney Observatory 4.4 2.8 1 0 -1
Regional Programs 1 0 1 1 0
Discovery Centre 3 3 1 1 0
Digital and Media 2 3 0
Media Technologies 5 5 6 5 -1
Public Programs (Partnerships and Festivals) 5 5 5 5 0
Education and Digital Learning 5 7 5 5 0
Programs 3 3 1.6 3 1.4
Visitor Services and Venues 22.4 25.4 24.4 24 -0.4
Digital Studio 7.8 8 9 1
Information and Communications Technology 6.6 5.6 0
Total 65.2 67.8 54 50 -4
MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual) 213.9 216.3 203.4 197.8 -12.9

STAFFING NUMBERS (AGAINST LAST 3 YEARS)
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) STATISTICS 

A. Trends in the  
Representation  
of EEO Groups

% of Total Staff

EEO Group Benchmark  
or Target 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Women 53% 48% 47% 53% 58% 62% 63% 68% 67%

Aboriginal people and 
Torres Strait Islanders 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1.20% 1.20% 1% 1%

People whose first 
language was not English 38% 17% 16% 17% 11% 10% 8% 8% 7%

People with a disability 9% 7% 7% 7% 5% 0% 5% 5% 2%

People with a disability 
requiring work-related 
adjustment

1% 1% 1% 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

B. Trends in the 
Distribution of EEO 
Groups

Distribution Index

EEO Group Benchmark  
or Target 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Women 108 108 105 108 107 108 108 107 107

Aboriginal people and 
Torres Strait Islanders n/a n/a n/a 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

People whose first 
language was not English 97 97 97 62 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability n/a n/a n/a 16 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

People with a disability 
requiring work-related 
adjustment

n/a n/a n/a 4 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Notes:
1.  Includes casual staff.
2. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of  

other staff. Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff.  
The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the  
EEO group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet.

3.  The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

 
Comparison of staff by occupational category

Staff Numbers (EFT) Powerhouse Museum (non-casual)

Occupation Group 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19

Manager and administrators 32 33 30 31.8 36.6 35 36 33 36

Professionals 118 110 102 60.5 53.7 77 78 75 75

Technicians and associate professionals 35 36 31 49 41.1 40 42 40 38

Tradespersons and related workers 18 17 12 20 12 13 10 6 5

Advanced clerical, sales and service workers 7 6 5 5 1 3 4 3 2

Intermediate clerical, sales and service workers 63.2 63.6 61.8 69.5 41 37 37 37 36

Intermediate production and transport workers 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0

Elementary clerical, sales and service workers 4 4 3 3 2.6 8 9 8 5

Labourers and related workers 6 7 6 3 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 284.2 277.6 251.8 242.8 188 213 216 202 197

Notes:
Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the Department of Planning & Environment
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During 2018–19 the following were members of the  
State Government Senior Executive Service:

Chief Executive  
Lisa Havilah

Director 
Dolla Merrillees

Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer 
Andrew Elliott 

Director Public Programs and Engagement 
Tristan Sharp

Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions  
Peter Denham

Director Communications and External Affairs 
Siobhan Rennie

Director, MAAS Parramatta Project  
Michael Parry

Band Position title Gender

3 Chief Executive – Lisa Havilah Female

2 Director – Dolla Merrillees Female

1 Director Corporate Resources,  
Chief Financial Officer – Andrew Elliott Male

1 Director Public Programs and Engagement 
Tristan Sharp Male

1 Director Curatorial, Collections and 
Exhibitions – Peter Denham Male

1 Director New Museum Project 
Michael Parry Male

1 Director Development and External Affairs 
Siobhan Rennie Female

Band 30-Jun-18

4 0

3 1

2 1

1 5

CEO under s11A 0

Total 6

Number of female SES 2

Band 
Average Remuneration 

2017/8 2018/19 

3 0 $385,000 

2 $315,187 $315,187

1 $226,461 $232,123 

SENIOR EXECUTIVE OVERSEAS TRAVEL (LIST AND PURPOSE)

G Jones, Curator, 1–6 July, France. To attend Paris Haute 
Couture Fashion Week to purchase garments for the 
Museum collection to be used in an upcoming exhibition  
on Australian Fashion Designers (recall to duty). 

S Chee, Conservator, 14–18 October, Italy. To deliver a 
research paper to the Costume Colloquium conference 
Textiles and Fashion – Creativity in Context (recall to duty).

D Lawler-Dormer, 10–16 December, Korea. To present  
a paper at a conference and hold a series of research 
partner meetings with expert museum and academic 
representatives regarding new research initiatives.  

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES
There was no legislative change which affected the  
Museum in 2018–19.

MAJOR WORKS STATEMENT

There was no major capital work project undertaken by  
the Museum over the 2018–19 financial year. The Museum 
classifies major works as a single project funded by  
NSW Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million.

DIGITAL INFORMATION SECURITY 
ATTESTATION STATEMENT

I, Andrew Elliot, Director, Corporate Services and Chief 
Financial Officer, am of the opinion that the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences ICT team have managed cyber 
security risks in a manner consistent with the Mandatory 
Requirements set out in the NSW Government Cyber 
Security Policy.

Risks to the information and systems of the Museum have 
been assessed and are managed.

Governance is in place to manage the cyber-security 
maturity and initiatives of MAAS.

There exists a current cyber incident response plan for the 
Museum which has been tested during the reporting period.
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GUARANTEE OF SERVICE AND 
CONSUMER RESPONSE

Our commitment to our customers  
The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in  
its quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions, 
programs and services.

Our service standards  
Visitors to the Museum will find:  
–  friendly, responsive and efficient staff;  
–  well-maintained exhibitions and buildings;  
–  a commitment to caring for objects in the collection  

and on loan to the Museum;  
–  accurate and appropriate information in response  

to your  inquiries;  
–  a high standard of safety and security; 
–  appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafes, toilets, baby 

change room) for you to use; 
–  appropriate access and services for those with special 

needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a 
language background other than English);  

–  signage and information brochures that are helpful  
and easy to understand; 

–  printed information about Museum events in plain English;  
–  special services including:  

–  guided tours in community languages, including sign 
language, on a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ 
notice), depending on availability of guides;   

–  guided tours for visitors with blindness or low vision on  
a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ notice) depending 
on availability of guides. For bookings and enquiries 
please call (02 9217 0222) or email book@maas.museum.   

What to do if you have a suggestion or complaint   
We welcome comments and suggestions from visitors 
regarding improving our services. A comments form is 
available at the cloaking desk for visitors who have a 
compliment, suggestion or complaint they wish to put  
in writing. Alternatively, visitors can email the Museum 
(feedback@maas.museum). 

This year the Museum received 235 pieces of feedback via 
our public inbox and onsite paper forms. As an outcome 
from this feedback collection process, the Museum 
responded to growing requests for weekend trading at  
the Museums Discovery Centre by reviewing its opening 
hours and opening its doors on the weekend as of 
September 2019.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE 
REPORTING AS REQUIRED BY THE  
PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT 1994  
(ALSO TO BE PROVIDED TO THE  
NSW OMBUDSMAN)

Public Interest Disclosures: 
Number of officials who made PIDs   0 
Number of PIDs received   0 
Number of PIDs finalised   0

PRIVACY REVIEWS UNDER THE  
PRIVACY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION 
PROTECTION ACT 1998

The Museum did not receive any privacy reviews during the 
reporting year under the Privacy and Personal Information 
Protection Act 1998.

PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

Under section 7(3) of the Government Information (Public 
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the 
currency and nature of information made publicly available 
and has reported on this in the reporting template below. 
The Museum releases information regarding exhibitions, 
programs and venues on the Musuem’s website. In addition 
to this, the online collection is a rich source of information 
made available to the public with over 134,000 object 
records available as at 30 June 2019. 

The Museum publishes the following blogs online: Inside  
the Collection and Observations (a blog to help the public 
learn about the southern night sky, with Sydney Observatory 
providing an audio guide or podcast with a transcript of that 
audio and a sky map or chart each month) and also 
publishes articles from the MAAS Magazine. 

Following the recent Government announcement regarding 
the creation of the Powerhouse Precinct in Parramatta,  
the Museum developed a website dedicated to the project 
and proactively releases information about the project, 
consultation undertaken, frequently asked questions and 
media releases. 

The following information has been submitted to the NSW 
Information and Privacy Commission as part of annual 
reporting obligations of agencies under section 125 of the 
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009.
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GIPA REPORTING AS REQUIRED BY THE  
GOVERNMENT INFORMATION (PUBLIC ACCESS) ACT 2009 
(ALSO TO BE PROVIDED TO THE NSW INFORMATION AND 
PRIVACY COMMISSION )

Clause 8A: Details of the review carried out by the agency under section 7 (3) of the Act during the reporting year  
and the details of any information made publicly available by the agency as a result of the review

Reviews carried out by the agency Yes

Information made publicly available by the agency Yes

Clause 8B: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year  
(including withdrawn applications but not including invalid applications)

Total number of applications received 3

Clause 8C: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year that the agency  
refused either wholly or partly, because the application was for the disclosure of information refered to in Schedule 1  
to the Act (information for which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure)

Number of Applications Refused Wholly Partly Total

0 2 2

% of Total 0% 100%

Schedule 2 Statistical information about access applications to be included in annual report

 
Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*

Access 
Granted 

in Full

Access 
Granted 
in Part

Access 
Refused 
in Full

Information 
not Held

Information 
Already 

Available

Refuse to 
Deal with 

Application

Refuse to 
Confirm/

Deny 
whether 

information 
is held

Application 
Withdrawn

Total % of  
Total

Media 2 6 0 2 0 0 0 0 10 91%

Members of 
Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Private sector 
business 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 9%

Not for profit 
organisations or 
community 
groups

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Members of the 
public (by legal 
representative)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Members of the 
public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 2 7 0 2 0 0 0 0 11

% of Total 18% 64% 0% 18% 0% 0% 0% 0%

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application.  
If so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome*

Access 
Granted 

in Full

Access 
Granted 
in Part

Access 
Refused 
in Full

Information 
not Held

Information 
Already 

Available

Refuse to 
Deal with 

Application

Refuse to 
Confirm/

Deny 
whether 

information 
is held

Application 
Withdrawn

Total % of 
Total

Personal 
information 
applications*

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 9%

Access 
applications 
(other than 
personal 
information 
applications)

2 6 0 2 0 0 0 0 10 91%

Access 
applications  
that are partly 
personal 
information 
applications and 
partly other

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Total 2 7 0 2 0 0 0 0 11

% of Total 18% 64% 0% 18% 0% 0% 0% 0%

* A personal information application is an access application for personal information  
(as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).

Table C: Invalid applications

Reason for invalidity No of 
applications

% of Total

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act) 0 0%

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act) 0 0%

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 0%

Total number of invalid applications received 0 0%

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications 0 0%
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Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed in Schedule 1 of Act

Number of times 
consideration 

used*

% of Total

Overriding secrecy laws 0 0%

Cabinet information 1 33%

Executive Council information 0 0%

Contempt 0 0%

Legal professional privilege 1 33%

Excluded information 0 0%

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 0%

Transport safety 0 0%

Adoption 0 0%

Care and protection of children 0 0%

Ministerial code of conduct 0 0%

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 0%

Privilege generally - Sch 1(5A) 1 33%

Information provided to High Risk Offenders Assessment Committee 0 0%

Total 3

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access  
application and if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application).  
This also applies in relation to Table E

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of Act

Number of times 
consideration 

used*

% of Total

Responsible and effective government 2 22%

Law enforcement and security 0 0%

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice 3 33%

Business interests of agencies and other persons 4 44%

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0 0%

Secrecy provisions 0 0%

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation 0 0%

Total 9

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access  
application and if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application).  
This also applies in relation to Table E

Table F: Timeliness

Number of 
applications*

% of Total

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions) 4 50%

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 4 50%

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 0%

Total 8
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Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)

Number of 
applications  
for review

% of Total

Applications by access applicants 0 0%

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates  
(see section 54 of the Act) 0 0%

Total 0

Table I: Applications transferred to other agencies

Number of 
applications 
transferred

% of Total

Agency-Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Applicant-Initiated Transfers 0 0%

Total 0

Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome)

Decision varied Decision upheld Total % of Total

Internal review 0 0 0 0%

Review by Information Commissioner* 0 0 0 0%

Internal review following recommendation under 
section 93 of Act 0 0 0 0%

Review by NCAT 0 0 0 0%

Total 0 0 0

% of Total 0% 0%

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original 
decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by the 
Information Commissioner. 
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BUDGET ESTIMATES

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7(1)(a)(iii)  
of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

Expenditure 2018/19
$000

2019/20
$000

Operating Expenses

Employee Related 26,675 27,714

Other Operating Expenses 16,317 8,020

Grants and Subsidies 0 24,878

Depreciation and Amortisation 6,047 8,460

Finance Costs 0 2

Total Expenditure 49,039 69,074

Revenue

Recurrent Grant 29,641 34,961

Capital Grant 1,868 1,868

Sale of Goods and Services 9,245 5,514

Investment Income 165 164

Grants and Contributions 4,000 28,056

Other Revenue 248 309

Acceptance of State Liabilities 879 890

Gain on disposal of non current assets - -

Total Revenue 46,046 71,762

CONSULTANTS (>50K and <50K)

Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7 (1)(a)(iii) of 
the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.

Engagements costing less than $50,000  

Service provided Number of engagements Cost $

Strategic/Business Planning 5 99,370

Finance and Accounting 1 4,000

Project Management 1 8,860

Indigenous Engagement 2 19,100

Statistical Reporting 1 8,550

Total Consultancies 139,880



89Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2018–19

Payment Performance Indicators 2018/19
Value of accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter 

As at
30-Sep-18

$

As at
31-Dec-18

$

As at
31-Mar-19

$

As at
30-Jun-19

$

Current 843,361 1,070,274 1,159,265 1,386,547

Less than 30 days overdue 25,807 5,270 604 18,708

Between 30 & 60 days overdue 55,118 - 87,247 -

Between 60 & 90 days overdue 745 18,256 11,174 -

More than 90 days overdue 4,392 -1,691 131,845 -

929,423 1,092,109 1,390,135 1,405,255
These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the quarter.

 
Amount & value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter

Quarter ending
Accounts Paid Paid on Time

No. $000 No. % $000 %

30 September 2018 1,741 6,963 1,701 97.7 6,773 97.3

31 December 2018 2,019 6,954 1,881 93.2 6,436 92.6

31 March 2019 1,837 7,364 1,756 95.6 6,978 94.8

30 June 2019 2,338 9,829 2,096 89.6 8,460 86.1
The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State Government 
guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification with suppliers. In such cases 
payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification. No interest was paid in relation to late payments.

PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS/TIME FOR PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
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Powerhouse Museum
500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street, 
Ultimo NSW 2007
Administration hours: 9am to 5pm 
Monday to Friday  
Phone (02) 9217 0111
Open daily: 10am to 5pm 
(closed Christmas Day) 
Infoline (for information about  
what’s on): phone (02) 9217 0111 
info@maas.museum

Admission charges 
Adults $15 
Children (under 16) free 
Concessions (Australian Pensioners, 
Seniors, Social Security and Veterans 
Affairs cardholders) $8 
Student card holders $8 
Education group bookings (contact 
the Museum for charges) 
Members free 
Members of ICOM, Members of 
Museums Australia Inc free 
Group concessions: discounts apply 
for groups of 10 or more  
Additional admission charges apply 
to some temporary exhibitions 

Sydney Observatory
1003 Upper Fort Street 
Millers Point NSW 2000 
Postal address: 500 Harris Street 
Ultimo NSW 2007 
Phone: (02) 9217 0111
Open daily: 10am to 5pm 
Open nightly: Monday to Sunday 
(closed Christmas day/night,  
Boxing day/night and New Year’s Eve) 
Evening Tour start times vary 
according to time of year 
Bookings required 
booking@maas.museum

Admission Charges — Day 
Adult $10 
Children (under 16) or concession $8 
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children;  
or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $26 
Member adult $8  
Member child (under 16 years)  
or concession $6 
Member family (1 adult and up to  
3 children; or 2 adults and up to  
2 children) $22 

Admission Charges — Night 
Adult $27 
Children (under 16) $20 
Concession $25 
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children;  
or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $80 
Member (adult or concession) $25 
Member (child) $18 
Member (family) $65 
Includes Space Theatre, telescope 
viewing and a guided tour 
Discounts are offered to Members  
for all activities 
Other discounts may apply

Museums Discovery Centre
172 Showground Road 
Castle Hill NSW 2154 
Postal address: PO Box 8025 
Baulkham Hills NSW 2153
Administration hours: 9am to 4.30pm 
Monday to Friday 
Phone: (02) 9217 0111
Open Saturday and Sunday:  
10am to 5pm

Free Admission

Members
Members Lounge open daily:  
10am to 4.30pm 
(closed Christmas Day) 
Phone: (02) 9217 0600 
membership@maas.museum

CONTACT INFORMATION






